

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Science of the Total Environment



journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/scitotenv

Review

Removal of non-point source pollutants from domestic sewage and agricultural runoff by vegetated drainage ditches (VDDs): Design, mechanism, management strategies, and future directions



Mathieu Nsenga Kumwimba ^{a,b,c,d,e,h,*}, Fangang Meng ^{a,b}, Oluwayinka Iseyemi ^f, Matthew T. Moore ^g, Zhu Bo ^{c,d}, Wang Tao ^{c,d}, Tang Jia Liang ^{c,d}, Lunda Ilunga ^{e,h}

^a School of Environmental Science and Engineering, Sun Yat-sen University, Guangzhou 510275, PR China

^b Guangdong Provincial Key Laboratory of Environmental Pollution Control and Remediation Technology, Sun Yat-sen University, Guangzhou 510275, PR China

^c Institute of Mountain Hazards and Environment, Chinese Academy of Sciences, 610041 Chengdu, PR China

^d Key Laboratory of Mountain Surface Processes and Ecological Regulation, Chinese Academy of Sciences, Chengdu, PR China

^e Faculty of Agronomy, Department of Natural Resources and Environmental Management, University of Lubumbashi, Congo

^f Delta Water Management Research Unit, USDA Agricultural Research Service, Jonesboro, USA

^g Water Quality and Ecology Research Unit, USDA Agricultural Research Service, National Sedimentation Laboratory, Oxford, MS 38655, USA

^h Département de géologie, Faculté des sciences, Lubumbashi, Congo

HIGHLIGHTS

GRAPHICAL ABSTRACT

- We review the application of VDDs for nutrient and organic pollutant removal.
- We summarize the major ruling ditch characteristics of documented ditches.
- VDDs can remove nutrients and organic pollutants through various pathways.
- Plants, substrate, and microbes in ditches account for the primary removal mechanisms.
- Further research is required to fill knowledge gaps on VDD maintenance.

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 1 April 2018 Received in revised form 15 May 2018 Accepted 15 May 2018 Available online xxxx

Editor: Jay Gan

Keywords: Non-point source pollution Water quality Vegetated ditches Pesticides Agricultural runoff treatment And management practices

* Corresponding author.

E-mail address: kumwimba@mail.sysu.edu.cn (M. Nsenga Kumwimba).



ABSTRACT

Domestic wastewater and agricultural runoff are increasingly viewed as major threats to both aquatic and terrestrial ecosystems due to the introduction of non-point source inorganic (e.g., nitrogen, phosphorus and metals) and organic (e.g., pesticides and pharmaceutical residues) pollutants. With rapid economic growth and social change in rural regions, it is important to examine the treatment systems in rural and remote areas for high efficiency, low running costs, and minimal maintenance in order to minimize its influence on water bodies and biodiversity. Recently, the use of vegetated drainage ditches (VDDs) has been employed in treatment of domestic sewage and agricultural runoff, but information on the performance of VDDs for treating these pollutants with various new management practices is still not sufficiently summarized. This paper aims to outline and review current knowledge related to the use of VDDs in mitigating these pollutants from domestic sewage and agricultural runoff. Literature analysis has suggested that further research should be carried out to improve ditch characteristics and management strategies inside ditches in order to ensure their effectiveness. Firstly, the reported major ditch characteristics with the most effect on pollutant removal processes (e.g., plant species, weirs, biofilms, and substrates selection) were summarized. The second focus concerns the function of ditch characteristics in VDDs for pollutant removal and identification of possible removal mechanisms involved. Thirdly, we examined factors to consider for establishing appropriate management strategies within ditches and how these could influence the whole ditch design process. The current review promotes areas where future research is needed and highlights clear and sufficient evidence regarding performance and application of this overlooked ditch system to reduce pollutants.

© 2018 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

Contents

| . Introduction | | | | | | | | | | |
|--|--------------------------------|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|
| . Sources of nutrients and organic pollutants in VDDs | | | | | | | | | | |
| Prevention and mitigation measures for non-point source pollutants | | | | | | | | | | |
| 4. The use of VDDs for non-point source pollutant removal in agricultu | ral runoff and domestic sewage | | | | | | | | | |
| 5. Fate and removal mechanisms of nutrients and organic pollutants in | VDDs | | | | | | | | | |
| 5.1. Nitrogen uptake and removal | | | | | | | | | | |
| 5.2. Phosphorus uptake and removal | | | | | | | | | | |
| 5.3. Accumulation and removal of metals | | | | | | | | | | |
| 5.4. Plant uptake and removal of organic pollutants | | | | | | | | | | |
| 5.5. Microbial communities | | | | | | | | | | |
| 6. Factors influencing the removal of nutrients and organic pollutants | | | | | | | | | | |
| 6.1. Low-grade weirs | | | | | | | | | | |
| 6.2. Plant species | | | | | | | | | | |
| 6.3. Plant harvesting | | | | | | | | | | |
| 6.4. Seasonal fluctuation | | | | | | | | | | |
| 6.5. Hydraulic retention time | | | | | | | | | | |
| 6.6. Selection of substrate material for periphytic biofilms establi | hment in VDDs | | | | | | | | | |
| 6.7. Two-stage ditches | | | | | | | | | | |
| 6.8. Maintenance for VDDs | 6.8. Maintenance for VDDs | | | | | | | | | |
| 7. Incorporation of electron donor carbon for anaerobic removal of pol | utant | | | | | | | | | |
| 7.1. Organic carbon amendments | | | | | | | | | | |
| 8. Conclusions and future research needs | | | | | | | | | | |
| Acknowledgments | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | |
| Keierences | | | | | | | | | | |

1. Introduction

In recent years, with rapid socio-economic development, environmental conditions are dramatically changing in many rural regions of developing countries (Jin et al., 2018; Ongley et al., 2010; USEPA, 2003; Zheng and Wang, 2002). As a result, non-point source inorganic pollutants [e.g., nitrogen (N), phosphorus (P), sediments and metals], and organic pollutants (e.g., pesticides and pharmaceutical residues), human pathogens and estrogenic and androgenic compounds, including those from untreated domestic sewage and agricultural sources (i.e., agricultural land, manure, animal feedlots and aquaculture), have polluted rivers, lakes, and reservoirs (Alexander et al., 2008; Carpenter et al., 1998; Davis and Koop, 2006; Edwards et al., 2009; Gall et al., 2011; Kumwimba et al., 2017a; Moeder et al., 2017; Ongley et al., 2010; Schijven et al., 2015; Tran et al., 2015; Toet et al., 2005). According to the First National Survey of Pollution Sources Bulletin of China (Zhang, 2010), rural non-point source pollution includes approximately half of the total water pollution, accounting for 57% of the total N and 67% of the total P. Thus, mitigation of non-point source pollution is critical in rural regions in the coming years (Qiu, 2011). In most rural and remote regions, these pollutants are discharged directly into surfacereceiving waters without treatment due to the lack of wastewater treatment facilities. Considering technological and economic issues (i.e., low rate of economic development, power shortage, and lack of skilled employees) in rural and remote zones in developing countries, attention has shifted to assessing the effectiveness of pollutant removal in ecological engineering systems [(e.g., constructed wetlands CWs), floating islands, retention basins, riparian buffer vegetation, and stiff grass hedges] (Cooper et al., 2004, Kröger et al., 2007a, 2008a; Kröger and Moore, 2011, Moore et al., 2000, 2006, Needelman et al., 2007). Scientists and land managers now promote the utilization of vegetated ditches (VDDs) as an additional best management practice (BMP) for pollutant mitigation (Bennett et al., 2005; Cooper et al., 2004; Kumwimba and Zhu, 2017; Kröger et al., 2008a; Sharpley et al., 2007; Vallée et al., 2014). They require less land area, which is important in the plains area of many countries, particularly the United States and China, where land is valuable. Drainage ditches are also unique ecosystems, having the features of both streams and wetlands (Moore et al., 2001a, 2001b).

Drainage ditches are fundamentally similar to free water surface wetlands (e.g., hydroperiod, hydric soils, and hydrophytes). They are referred to as ecotones between land and surface receiving waters (Ahiablame et al., 2010; Herzon and Helenius, 2008; Kumwimba et al., 2017b; Moore et al., 2001a, 2005). Depending on the circumstance, they may function as a sink, source, or regulator of nutrients, metals, pesticides, and other agricultural pollutants to adjacent water bodies (Kladivko et al., 1999; Kumwimba et al. 2016a, d; Moeder et al., 2017; Moore et al., 2001a, 2001b; Needelman et al., 2007; Randall and Vetsch, 2005; Tomer et al., 2003; Zhu et al., 2012). Because of the sediment and plants within VDDs, a distinctive sediment-aquatic plantmicrobial system is built, and complex physical, chemical, and biological processes occur for pollutant degradation in the system.

Neglected in the past for their value, function and mitigation capabilities, VDDs have tremendous potential to mitigate a broader range of pollutants in a way comparable to CWs, including intercepting and purifying runoff pollution from different land uses before entering water bodies. More recently, there has been increased interest in promoting the utilization of ditches for water quality and environmental benefits in the Netherlands, Great Britain and Finland. For example, in the US, VDDs are BMPs for their nutrient and pesticide retention (Cooper et al., 2004; Dabney et al., 2006; Fouss and Sullivan, 2009; Kröger et al., 2013; Moore et al., 2001a, 2001b). These systems consist of flow control structures, water discharge channels, substrates, vegetation, and periphytic microorganisms for contaminant treatment (Wu et al., 2013). When well-managed, VDDs have a wide range of ecosystem benefits, e.g., preventing waterlogging, controlling soil erosion, water purification, biodiversity conservation and rehabilitation, groundwater recharges, and flood prevention (Fig. S1) (Dollinger et al., 2015; Kumwimba et al., 2017d). Nevertheless, it is important to emphasize that the pollutant mitigation capacity of VDDs and the sustainable operation over the long-term, are increasingly seen as a major future challenge. On one hand, ditch characteristics (size, length, slope, vegetation cover and types) and bed properties (soil media types) are primary factors influencing the mitigation capacity within ditch systems (Kumwimba, 2017; Kumwimba et al., 2017b; Wu et al., 2013; Zhang et al., 2016a, 2016b). On the other hand, the effectiveness of VDDs in treating polluted water is a complex process that is largely dependent on the reach connections (piped sections and low-grade weirs); biofilms; connectivity between fields and ditches; hydraulic loading; depth; temperature; and ditch network topologies, which in turn can result in variations in removal efficiency of pollutants among different studies (Bouldin et al., 2005; Dollinger et al., 2015; Herzon and Helenius, 2008; Kumwimba et al., 2017c; Lagacherie et al., 2006; Moore et al., 2008; Wu et al., 2014). As the number of influencing factors increases, so does the uncertainty of model experiment predictions. In such situations, Cooman and Schrevens (2006) suggested it is essential to assess the main factors [e.g. assessing factors influencing the most removal rates (Vazquez-Cruz et al., 2014)], and whether or not VDDs can be successful for mitigating pollutants. In VDDs, there are different pollutant removal mechanisms, such as plant uptake, sedimentation, precipitation, volatilization, adsorption, and a variety of microbial processes. These mechanisms are usually directly and/or indirectly impacted by several environmental factors, which can be either internal or external such as the climate condition, temperature, and operation strategies (Kadlec and Wallace, 2009; Vymazal, 2007; Wu and Yang, 2012; Zhang et al., 2016a, 2016b). Despite progress made in the non-point source pollutant removal processes in VDDs over the last few years, there are still gaps in fully understanding these systems.

Most VDDs have been used to treat agricultural runoff, but at present, VDDs have been successfully applied to address other types of wastewaters including animal, domestic sewage, aquaculture, and winery wastewaters (Saunders, 2007; Bundschuh et al., 2016; Kumwimba and Zhu, 2017; Kumwimba et al., 2017b, 2017e). The functional capacity of VDDs in treating primary domestic sewage laden with nutrients, metals and pharmaceutical residues has only been partially assessed to date in most treatment ditches. Currently, several reviews, such as Herzon and Helenius (2008), Needelman et al. (2007), and Skaggs and Schilfgaarde (1999) have been published in international journals and books with regard to either hydrological functioning and engineering in drainage ditches or their biological importance and functioning in biodiversity restoration. Needelman et al. (2007) reviewed the role of drainage ditches related to nutrients, water, and sediment in transfer/ transformation. Dollinger et al. (2015) gave a comprehensive and critical review of ditch design and maintenance. Similarly, Faust et al. (2018) summarized different management practices and designs in agricultural ditches and quantified the effects of these management systems on nutrients and sediments losses downstream. The feasibility of VDDs to mitigate these pollutants in agricultural runoff and domestic sewage requires in-depth knowledge on removal efficiencies, mechanisms, the impacts of environmental conditions, and adequate design of ditch characteristics and maintenance. Hence, it is essential to review and discuss recent developments and knowledge on the sustainability of VDD treatment technology.

In this review, we attempt to provide an in-depth analysis of the overall research activities on the application of VDDs for mitigation of non-point source inorganic (e.g., N, P and metals), and organic (e.g., pesticides and pharmaceutical residues) pollutants from domestic sewage and agricultural runoff. Removal efficiencies of these pollutants in VDDs are also summarized in this review in order to assess their performance. Likewise, possible removal mechanisms of these pollutants related to the three essential components of VDDs (bed properties, functional characteristic, and microbes) are also assessed. Finally, the main summary, future research needs, and system design and operation are highlighted. This review will lead to a scientific understanding of the complex interaction between the removal pathways, environmental conditions, and operational parameters for enhancing pollutants removal mechanisms in vegetated drainage ditches.

2. Sources of nutrients and organic pollutants in VDDs

Pollutant inputs, compositions, and concentrations to drainage ditches are closely related to dispersed sources or locations (Edwards and Withers, 2008; Kröger et al., 2008a; Kumwimba et al., 2016a, 2016b; T. Wang et al., 2017a). In addition, ditches are ubiquitous in rural, suburban, factory, and agricultural settings (Buchanan et al., 2013; Kumwimba et al., 2016a, 2017a) and can inevitably receive the discharge of nutrients and other pollutants including sediments, pharmaceuticals and personal care products (PPCPs), metals, steroid hormones, toxicants, and pathogens via drainage flows (Dragon et al., 2016; Kumwimba et al., 2017d, 2017e; Schijven et al., 2015; Toet et al., 2005; Zhang et al., 2015). Major sources include agricultural runoff, animal wastewaters, aquaculture waters, domestic sewage, and urban and highway runoff (Fig. 1) (Further information regarding sources of these pollutants in VDDs can be found in supplementary information). Collectively, the results discussed above suggest that ditches, besides conveying excess water from field, may also act as both sink/source to retain or release pollutants into receiving water bodies. Awareness of probable contributions of these mentioned pollution sources to non-point source inorganic and organic pollutants requires that these ditches be considered for their capacity to mitigate pollutants.

3. Prevention and mitigation measures for non-point source pollutants

The most commonly used mitigation techniques for treating nutrients and organic pollutants can be classified into physical, chemical, and biological/ecological treatment. Physicochemical methods encompass mostly advanced oxidation processes, coagulation/flocculation, flotation, membranes, and others. Historically, these technologies have been applied successfully for water environmental control around the world. However, these advanced treatment technologies and methods are costly and not completely feasible for extensive use in rural regions. Taking into account the low level of economic development, shortage of energy, and lack of environmental technical staff in rural and remote zones in developing countries, it is imperative to explore rural domestic wastewater treatment technologies with high efficiency, low investment, low overhead costs, low maintenance, and low power consumption, all of which are essential to address decentralized wastewater. Depending on the production and development processes of these pollutants, three types of strategies have been suggested to mitigate nonpoint source pollution in rural regions: (a) source control strategies (e.g. optimization of fertilizer application and prevention of water and soil loss); (b) pollutant retention during the runoff process (e.g., VDDs, edge-of-field, CWs, vegetated filter strips and ponds, construction of low-grade weirs); and (c) treatment and restoration of the polluted water pathway (e.g., man-made floating islands, submerged hydrophyte restoration) (Kumwimba et al., 2017e; Ribaudo et al., 2001; Wu et al., 2011, 2017). However, CWs have some limitations, such as



Fig. 1. Primary sources of nutrients and organic pollutants in vegetated drainage ditches.

relatively large space requirements, high retention rates, sediment disposal issues (Tyler et al., 2012), and these large open areas with standing water can be a breeding ground for disease vectors. Although VDDs have not gained as much attention as the other techniques (e.g. CWs), the successful use of VDDs provides a promising extension to domestic sewage technology.

4. The use of VDDs for non-point source pollutant removal in agricultural runoff and domestic sewage

Strategies to minimize adverse environmental effects of farming were particularly prevalent towards the late 1980s and early 1990s in North America and European countries, with the concept of best management practices (BMPs) and agri-environmental schemes (AES), originating from US and Europe, respectively (Dollinger et al., 2015; Dobbs and Pretty, 2001). Agricultural drainage systems are generally seen as conduits for channeling excess water from production acreage (Cooper et al., 2004). Drainage also plays a crucial role in the sustainability and profitability of crop production (Kröger et al., 2008b). Agricultural field drainage activity can be provided by surface or subsurface modifications or even a combination of the two (Madramootoo et al., 2007). Ditches can be found in both developed and developing nations around the world and many researchers have demonstrated the importance of vegetated ditches in regulating downstream nutrient transport to water bodies as well as mitigating organic pollutants (Bouldin et al., 2005; Cooper et al., 2004; Coulson et al., 1990; Ecke, 2009; Nguyen and Sukias, 2002; Rogers and Stringfellow, 2009). During the late 1990s and the early 2000s (e.g. Locke et al., 2011; Moore et al., 2000, 2001a, 2001b, 2002; Kröger et al., 2011), a great series of VDDs were designed in the US (e.g. ARS National Sedimentation Laboratory in Oxford, Mississippi) and Netherlands; efforts were made to assess the mitigation of pesticide and nutrient losses in runoff and their fate. Since these "pioneer" field surveys, many other works on nutrients and organic pollutants (e.g. pesticide) mitigation in VDDs have been conducted (Table 1). At the primary stage, the application of VDDs was mainly tested for treating pesticides following irrigation and storm runoff events. Aiming at cheaper and effective ecological control of nonpoint source pollution, VDD development has received significant attention for their successful application in mitigating agricultural runoff, storm water, polluted rivers and highway runoff from both local government agencies and scientists over the last several years (Bennett et al., 2005; Needelman et al., 2007; Moore et al., 2008, 2011; Falbo et al., 2013; Ahmed et al., 2015). It has now become a pioneer technique in biological and ecological sewage-fed aquaculture purification. Applications of these systems have also been significantly extended to alleviate environmental pollution by removing a diverse array of pollutants originating from domestic sewage (Saunders, 2007; Moeder et al., 2017; Kumwimba et al., 2016a, 2017e). They have also been developed in various climate conditions such as warm and humid, arid and cold, as well as tropical (Wu et al., 2014). Overall, available case studies have demonstrated promising results for the potential use of VDDs for agricultural runoff and domestic wastewater treatment, depending on conditions and landscape characteristics (Table 1). Despite the potential importance of VDDs in pollutant transport, their role in pollutant reduction strategies has only been partially assessed to date and remains an essential topic of interest.

5. Fate and removal mechanisms of nutrients and organic pollutants in VDDs

Major pollutant removal mechanisms in VDDs are illustrated in Fig. 2. In VDD systems, the transformation and removal of nutrients and organic compounds can occur with the physical, chemical and biological processes, which in turn are largely dependent on several environmental conditions and management practices. The following sections assess the pollutant removal mechanisms and performance of VDD systems treating agricultural runoff and domestic sewage.

5.1. Nitrogen uptake and removal

Mechanisms involved in N removal in VDDs include plant uptake, transformation, sedimentation, volatilization, microbial assimilation, and nitrification/denitrification by bacteria associated with root systems (Kadlec and Wallace, 2009; Kumwimba et al., 2016b; Vymazal, 2007; Wu and Yang, 2012; Zhang et al., 2016a, 2016b). However, loss of NH₄-N through volatilization is insignificant if pH is below 8.0 (Vymazal, 2007). Bacterial nitrification/denitrification is considered as the major avenue for N removal from ditches (Shukla et al., 2011). During the NH₄-N removal process, microbial nitrification/denitrification could result in a permanent removal of N by converting NH₄-N to

Table 1

Removal efficiencies of pollutants in vegetated drainage ditches around the world as reported in the peer-reviewed literature.

| | Wastewater type | System | Length (m) | Vegetation | Substrate | Operation parameters | Mean percent removal efficiency (on concentration basis, mg/L) | References |
|--------------------------------------|--------------------|-------------|-------------------|---|--|-------------------------------|---|--|
| Florida, USA | AD | VDD | nd | Pontederia cordata, Eichhornia crassipes, Lemna minor | Organic sediment and mineral sediment | HRT: 0.11–0.46 days | SRP: 13–55% | Collins et al. (2016) |
| Mississippi, USA | AD | VDD | 389 | md | 21:35:44 (% sand/silt/clay), 0.6% | md | Permethrin: 44% | Moore et al. (2011) |
| Mississippi, USA | AD | VDD | 402 | md | 21:35:44 (% sand/silt/clay), 0.6% OC | md | Chlorpyrifos: 19% | Moore et al. (2011) |
| Mississippi, USA | AD | VDD UVDD | 320 | Typha latifolia, Sparganium americanum and Iuncus effusus | Soil | HRT: 7 h | TN: 92%, TP: 86%, DIP: 99% TN: 77%, TP: 95%, DIP: 97% | Moore et al. (2010) |
| California, USA | AD | VDD | 200 | Myzus persicae, Hypera postica and Hypera brunneipennis | 21:35:44 (% sand/silt/clay), 0.6% OC | md | Chlorpyrifos: 38% | Gill et al. (2008) |
| Mississippi, USA | AD | VDD | 400 and 460 | Hydrophytic emergent and submerged species | Soil | md | DIP: 43.9 | Kröger et al. (2008a) |
| Mississippi, USA | AD | VDD | 400 and 460 | Leersia oryzoides L., Sagittaria latifolia Willd., Juncus effusus L., and Echinodorus cordifolius (L.) | Soil | md | TN: 57% | Kröger et al. (2007a) |
| North Carolina, USA | ARCs | VDD | 36 | Ludwigia | A coarse- to medium-grained sand covered by varying accumulations of silt | | Nutrient uptake was estimated to remove >46 to 75% of the NH4 load and 13 to 66% of the PO4 32 load during high flow periods. | Ensign et al. (2006) |
| Mississippi, USA | ARCs | VDD | 280 | Ludwigia, Lemna, Polygonum | | HRT: 7 days | Pyrethroid concentrations reduced to 0.1% of initial concentration within 280 m | Bennett et al. (2005) |
| Mississippi, USA | AD | VDD | 650 | md | md | HRT: 6 h | λ-Cyhalothrin: 98.8% | Bennett et al. (2005) Bennett et al. (2005) |
| Mississippi, USA Mississippi, USA | AD ARCs | VDD VDD | 600 | ma Ludwigia, Polygonum, Leersia | та | HRT: 3–6 h | Pyrethroid concentrations decreased to 0.1% of initial concentration within 510 | Cooper et al. (2003) |
| Mississippi, USA | AD | VDD | 600 | Ludwigia peploides, Polygonum amphibium, and Leersia orvzoides | Soil | HRT: 1.5 h | Esfenvalerate: 99% | Cooper et al. (2004) |
| Mississippi, USA | ARCs | VDD | 200 | Polygonum, Leersia, Lemna | | HRT: 7, 14, and 28 days | Lamba-cyhalothrin and bifenthrin reduced to below ecotoxicological thresholds within VDD | Cooper et al. (2002) |
| Mississippi, USA | ARCs | VDD | 50 | Polygonum, Leersia, and Sporobolus | Soil | HRT: 7 days | Atrazine and pyrethroid concentrations were decreased to "no effects" level within 50 m | Moore et al. (2001a, 2001b) |
| Jiangsu, China Sichuan, China | AD AD | VDD VDD | 50 300 | Lolium perenne L. Alternanthera philoxeroides, Phyla nodiflora, Oenanthe iavanica Polyconum | md Soil | md HRT: 0.11 days | TN: 23–62% TN: 31%, TP: 28% | Min and Shi (2018) Kumwimba et al. (2017c) |
| Sichuan, China | DS | VDD | 300 | Cyperus alternifolius, Iris pseudacorus, Canna indica, Thalia dealbata, Acorus gramineus, Hydrocotyle vulgaris, Myriophyllum aquaticum | Soil | HRT: 0.15 days | TN: 61% , NH ₄ -N: 63% , NO ₃ -N: 48% , TP: 58% and PO ₄ -P: 51% | Kumwimba et al. (2017d) |
| Sichuan, China | DS | VDD | 300 | Cyperus alternifolius, Iris pseudacorus, Canna indica, Thalia dealbata, Acorus gramineus, Hydrocotyle vulgaris, Myriophyllum aauaticum | Soil | HRT: 0.12 days | Ni: 51, Cu: 56, Cr: 63, Zn: 79, Cd: 68, Pb: 80, As: 60, Fe: 53, Al: 20, Mn: 24 | Kumwimba et al. (2017d, c) |
| Jiangxi, China | AD | VDD | 170 | Sagittaria sagittifolia, Zizania latifolia, Fimbristylis miliacea, and Nelumbo nucifera | md | HRT: 3–5 days | TN: 9.3%, TP: 14.0% | Cai et al. (2017) |
| Tianjin, China | AD | VDD | 30 | Zizania aquatica, Bermuda grass | hollow hexagonal bricks Zeolite | md | TN: 24.66%-30.39% | X. Wang et al. |
| Hunan, China | SF | MS | 0.5 | Myriophyllum aquaticum; and Ipomoea aquatica, Zizania latifolia, and | 32.6% sand, 41.1% silt, and 26.3% clay. | HRT: 28 days | NH ₄ -N and TN: >97% | Liu et al. (2016), Zhang et al. (2017) |
| Hunan, China | DS | WM | 1.5 | Myriophyllum aquaticum, | Soil (sand, silt, and | HRT: 30 | TN: 50.9% and 36.3% | Zhang et al. (2016a, |

Table 1 (continued)

| | Wastewater type | System | Length (m) | Vegetation | Substrate | Operation parameters | Mean percent removal efficiency (on concentration basis, mg/L) | References |
|---|----------------------------|-------------|---------------|---|---|------------------------------|--|--|
| | | | | Alternanthera philoxeroides | clay contents of 41.3%, 35.3%, and | days | · • / | 2016b) |
| Xi'an, China Tianjin, China | STPE AD | VDD VDD | 15 6 | Lolium perenne Iris pseudacorus, Lythrum salicaria | 23.4%) Hydroponic Soil, volcanic rocks, | HRT: 6 days HRT: 3 days | TP: 27.7%; NH ₄ -N: 82.8% TN: 33.06% | Ren et al. (2016) Li et al. (2016) |
| Hunan, China | AD | VDD | 16 | Pontederia cordata and | Soil | md | NH ₄ -N: 50.8-71.4% | Zhang et al. (2016a, |
| Jiangsu, China | AD | VDD | 300 | Myriophyllum elatinoides Hydrilla verticillata, Zizania latifolia, Phragmites australis, Nelumbo nucifera, Trapa bioamic ochock | md | HRT: 5–7 days | TN: 87.8%, TP: 70.4% | 2016b) Xiong et al. (2015) |
| Hunan, China | AD | VDD | 200 | Canna indica, Hydrocotyle vulgaris, Sparganium stoloniferum, Myriophyllum | Soil | md | TN: 75.8%, NO ₃ -N: 63.7%, NH ₄ -N: 77.9% | Chen et al. (2015) |
| Jiangsu, China | AD | VDD | 200 | Soybean, Bermuda grass, and Perennial ryegrass | Geogrid, geotextile, fine gravel (size: 4–8 mm) of 0.15 m, and coarse gravel (size: 16–32 mm) | md | TN: 57%, TP: 60%, NO ₃ -N: 6.8%, NH ₄ -N: 49% | Fu et al. (2014) |
| Zhejiang, China | AW | VDD | 470 | Hydropiper, Eichhornia crassipes, and Origanum vulgare. | md | HRT: 1 day | TN: 75% and 69%, TP: 82% and 86% | Wu et al. (2014) |
| Guangdong, China | AD | VDD | 100 | Cyperus alternifolius and Iris | Gravel and sand | md | NH ₃ -N: 15%, COD: 27%, TN: 50% TP: 63% | He et al. (2012) |
| Jiangsu, China | DS | VDD | 230 | Scirpus tabernaemontani, Canna indica, Zizania latifolia, Juncus minimus, Cyperus alternifolius, Zantedeschia aethiopica, and Acorus calamus | Soil and ceramiste | md | NH ₃ -N: 58%, NO ₃ -N: 53%, TN: 52%, TP: 56%, TDP: 48% | Wu et al. (2011) |
| Jiangsu, China | AD | VDD | 30 | Ipomea aquatica, Oryza and Oenanthe javanica | Soil | md | TN: 54%, TP: 82% | Wang et al. (2010) |
| Jiangsu, China | DS | VDD | 76 | Acorus calamus, Zantedeschia aethiopica, Arrowhead and Oenanthe javanica | Gravel, ceramistic and bamboo charcoal | md | NH ₃ -N: 67%, NO3-N: 70%, COD: 58%, TN: 48%, TP: 61%, TDP: 78% | Yin et al. (2008) |
| Beijing, China Utrecht, | AD STPE | VDD VDD | 290 50 | Reed Phragmites australis, Typha | md Soil | HRT: 4 | TN: 92%, TP: 65% TN: 45% | Yin et al. (1995) (Toet et al., 2005) |
| Netherlands Wageningen, Netherlands | AD | VDD | 40 | latifolia Myriphyllum, Elodea, Sagittaria | Silty clay loam | days HRT: up to 7 days | 94–98% insecticide added was removed from water | Leistra et al. (2004) |
| Wageningen, Netherlands | A supply | VDD | 40 | Myriophyllum spicatum | Sandy loam OM = | HRT: 7 days | column by day 3 40–60% of applied linuron was discharged from VDDs | Crum et al. (1998) |
| Utrecht, Netherlands | Wet meadow | VDD | md | Fontinalis | md | md | TP: 90–95% | Meuleman and Beltman (1993) |
| Koblenz-Landau, Germany | AD | VDD | 22–176 | Lemna minor, Typha angustifolia, Sparganium erectum, Phragmites australis, Iris pseudacorus, Carex elata, Glyceria sp. | Loamy sand | HRT: 1–11 h | Fungicide: 53% | Bundschuh et al. (2016) |
| Krottenbach, Landau, Gemany | AD | VDD | 44 | md | Loamy sand, OCO: 78% | HRT: 1.3 h | Indoxacarb: 92%, Trifloxystrobin: 97%, Thiacloprid: 97% | Elsaesser et al. (2013) |
| Krottenbach, Landau, Gemany | AD | VDD | 44 | md | Loamy sand, OCO: 78% | HRT: 1.3 h | Tebuconazole: 92–97% | Elsaesser et al. (2013) |
| Berlin, Germany | DS | VDD | | Potamogeton, Sparganium, Phalaris, Glyceria | Fine sands OM = 5.9% | md | Uptake rates of PO_4 -P, NH ₄ -N, NO ₃ -N were high compared to pristine systems but retention was low due to high loads | Gucker and Pusch (2006) |
| Kiel, Germany | Groundwater-fed | VDD | 150 | Phalaris arundinacea, Carex acutiformis | md | md | NO ₃ -N: 79% | Scholz and Trepel (2004) |
| Ferrara, Italy | AD | VDD | 1000 | Typha angustifolia, Phragmites australis | Soil | HRT: 1.5-4 h | TN: >50% | Pierobon et al. (2013) |
| Milan, Italy | Nitrate-rich spring waters | VDD | 380 | Typhoides arundinacea | Soil | md | Removal rate of N expressed on an areal basis $(38-84 \text{ mmol N m}^{-2} \text{ d}^{-1})$ | Soana et al. (2017) |
| Melbourne, Australia | AD | UVDD VDD | 330 160 | Lolium perenne, Trifolium repens, Paspalum spp., Cyperus spp. | md | md | 12-45 mmol N m ⁻² d ⁻¹ TP: 72.72-87.27% | Barlow et al. (2003) |

(continued on next page)

Table 1 (continued)

| | Wastewater type | System | Length (m) | Vegetation | Substrate | Operation parameters | Mean percent removal efficiency (on concentration basis, mg/L) | References |
|---------------------------|--------------------|--------|---------------|---|-----------|-------------------------|---|---------------------------------|
| Griffith, Australia | AD | VDD | 1100 | Paspalum, Typha, Potamogeton, Schoenoplectus, Ludwigia, Vallisneria, Elodea, Sagitaria | md | | TN: 75% TP: 100% NO ₃ -N: 93% | Bowmer et al. (1994) |
| Sinaloa, Mexico | AD, DS | VDD | 3600 | Typha domingensis | Soil | md | Diclofenac: 90%, Ibuprofen: 98% | Moeder et al. (2017) |
| Prague, Czech Republic | AD | VDD | 200 | Phragmites australis, Typha latifolia and Glyceria maxima | md | md | TN: 38%–53%, NO ₃ -N: 41.4%–62.2%, TP: 52.6% and 51,3% | Vymazal and Březinová (2018) |

md: missing data, AD: agricultural drainage, DS: domestic sewage, SF: swine farm, AW: aquaculture wastewater, STPE: sewage treatment plant effluent, ARCs: agricultural row crops.

gaseous nitrous and nitric oxide, and eventually N₂ gas. Performance of the VDDs for treatment of polluted water can be affected by many factors such as ditch plant species, growth stage, retention time, nutrient loading rates, velocity, water conditions, and other environmental conditions. Vymazal and Březinová (2018) found that removal of N was strongly dependent on water temperature. Nutrient content of ditch plants growing in domestic sewage tended to be higher than those in mixture of domestic sewage (Kumwimba et al., 2017a, 2017b, 2017c, 2017d, 2017e, 2017f; Saunders, 2007). Although poorly explored, water velocity is the most variable factor exerting a primary control on VDD nutrient dynamics and denitrification (Castaldelli et al., 2018). Within VDDs, high removal efficiencies of nutrients were observed when discharges were the lowest (e.g., May and June) and HRT the highest (Kumwimba et al., 2017a, 2017b, 2017c, 2017d, 2017e, 2017f; Soana et al., 2017). In VDDs, removal of NO₃ via denitrification in vegetated sediments was strongly influenced by flow conditions (Castaldelli et al., 2018). Generally, at long HRT, VDDs and canals function as linear wetlands, where interactions with the benthos increase biogeochemical reactions, promoting N degradation. Nitrogen uptake and storage by plant species is a key mechanism of N removal from water in aquatic systems. The contribution of ditch plants in terms of nutrient removal has been observed to be high, accounting for 41-86% of the influent TN and TP loads in a field mesocosm study of VDD sediments receiving primary domestic wastewater (Kumwimba et al., 2017f). In 200 m VDD treating agricultural drainage, Vymazal and Březinová (2018) found that plant uptake was responsible for 26% of the removed N. Reddy and Busk (1985) and Silvan et al. (2004) have reported that plant uptake could decrease TN between 16 and 75%. Kumwimba (2017) and Kumwimba et al. (2017b, 2017d) studied the functional capacity of VDDs for the treatment of a mixture of primary domestic sewage and agricultural runoff and found the presence of plant species resulted in high nutrient removal. It was concluded in these studies that plants, physical settlement, substrate, warm environments, and appropriate management practices in VDDs played considerable roles in successful N removal capacities. Li et al. (2016) also demonstrated using a VDD model that TN was decreased by 33% via the influence of substrate adsorption and interception, plant uptake and reaction in the root zone, and microbial degradation. Chen et al. (2015) evaluated the efficiency of VDDs treating agricultural drainage and reported the systems reduced N by 76% in summer. Vegetated ditches with Eichhornia crassipes (water hyacinth), Bacillus subtilis (the bacterium), and the freshwater snail Bellamya aeruginosa were reported to reduce TN by 69 and 75% from wastewater discharged by Chinese soft-shelled turtle greenhouse cultivation according to Wu et al. (2014). Fu et al. (2014) investigated the removal of nutrients in VDDs receiving farmland surface runoff and found removal efficiencies were 57, 6.8 and 49% for TN, NO₃ and NH₄, respectively. Kröger et al. (2007a) analyzed N reduction capacity of farm ditches under natural conditions, in northern Mississippi, and results showed ditches reduced 57% of N over the 2-year study period. Wu et al. (2011) found a mean reduction of 52, 53, and 58% for TN,



- Major biological parameters: Microorganisms, substrates, macrophyte species

- Physical parameters: Ditch shape, ditch dimensions, weirs

Fig. 2. Major functional characteristics of VDDs for the removal of nutrients and organic pollutants.

NO₃-N, and NH₄-N, respectively, for VDDs. Sufficient contact between plants and water column is essential in mitigation of pollutants (Bouldin et al., 2005).

5.2. Phosphorus uptake and removal

Unlike N, the key mechanisms of P removal in drainage ditches are driven by physical and chemical processes and use of filter materials. Phosphorus sorption reactions in ditch sediments are regarded as important mechanisms for P removal (Needelman et al., 2007; Nguyen and Sukias, 2002). In acidic soil/sediment, P sorption likely involves Al and Fe compounds, whereas in calcareous or alkaline soil/sediment, P sorption is controlled by Ca and Mg compounds (Nguyen and Sukias, 2002; Zhu et al., 2012). Moreover, redox potential (Eh) and pH can influence sorption processes (Nguyen and Sukias, 2002; Smith and Pappas, 2007; Zhu et al., 2012). As a result, ditch sediments might serve as a P sink as water flows through them, only to switch to a P source under certain physicochemical and biological conditions (Smith and Pappas, 2007). Overall, plant uptake and microbial degradation are responsible for phosphate (PO^{3-4}) removal, while precipitation and retention capacity within substrates generally represent the most significant removal pathways of all P forms. According to Kröger et al. (2007b), plants usually absorb 5% of nutrient fluxes. Kim and Geary (2001) demonstrated that plant harvesting removed <5% of TP present in vegetated microcosms, while >95% was stored in substrates. This observation was also reported in VDDs treating wastewater by Saunders (2007) who found that the majority of P is associated with benthic sediments rather than being stored in ditch plants. Depending on the pollutant concentrations in the water column, hydrological variables (HRT and HLR), and climatic conditions, ditch plants can incorporate higher amount of these pollutants (Kröger et al., 2007a, 2007b; Collins et al., 2016; Kumwimba et al., 2017a, 2017b, 2017c, 2017d, 2017e, 2017f; Saunders, 2007; Castaldelli et al., 2018). Vymazal and Březinová (2018) reported 51 and 53% removal efficiency of TP in south-central Bohemia, Czech Republic, and plant uptake was responsible for 14% of the removed load. These authors concluded that the removal of P was temperature-independent. Barlow et al. (2003) reported a significant decrease in P concentrations in VDD water in the range of 72 to 82%. Reddy and Busk (1985) and Silvan et al. (2004) have reported that plant uptake could decrease TP between 12 and 73%. Moore et al. (2010) reported that VDD had a significantly lower reduction of TP loads (86%) than unvegetated ditches (95%). A possible reason may be that dense vegetation inhibited phosphorus removal by periphyton and co-precipitation mechanisms (Wen and Recknagel, 2006).

5.3. Accumulation and removal of metals

Sedimentation is the major mechanism removing metals within VDDs. However, there are a number of other processes including filtration, chemical precipitation, adsorption, biological sequestration, microbial interactions, chemical transformation and volatilization that can also play an important role. Sorption to gravel or soil substrates have also been attributed with the removal of metals within VDDs (Kadlec and Knight, 1996; Kumwimba et al., 2017d). Kumwimba et al. (2017d) reported the annual mean removal efficiencies of Ni, Cu, Cr, Zn, Cd, Pb, As, Fe, Al, and Mn in the VDDs receiving domestic sewage to be 51, 56, 63, 79, 68, 80, 60, 53, 20, and 24%, respectively. The same study also reported concentrations of these metals were significantly higher in sediments at the inflow of the VDDs than at the middle and outflow, indicating that metals adsorb to sediments near the inflow. Similar observations were also reported by Lesage et al. (2007a, 2007b), Vymazal (2003), and Vymazal et al. (2010) in CWs treating municipal wastewater. Median removal efficiencies of 43, 85, 78, 9, and 66% for Cr, Cd, Ni, Pb, and Zn, respectively, were observed in a vegetated pond receiving highway runoff (Revitt et al., 2004). Kumwimba et al. (2017e) explored the differences in metal/metalloid accumulation by 10 dominant ditch plant species in a VDD impacted by primary domestic sewage and found concentrations of metals in VDD plants were positively related to that in VDD sediment. They also reported that accumulation of heavy metals varied among species and plant parts, although sequestration by plants represented only a small proportion (<1%) of the inflow load. Vegetated ditches are commonly utilized to mitigate nutrients and pesticides, but information on metal removals remains limited. Accumulation of metals in VDDs treating domestic sewage is not a topic of priority, mainly because the concentrations of metals are typically lower. Moreover, presently there are no discharge standards for metals in VDDs. As a result, metals have been neglected historically in most treatment ditches. Nevertheless, metals in domestic sewage may be associated with fine particulate matter, and the longterm deposition of sewage to VDDs often results in the accumulation of high levels of metals in ditch sediments (Kumwimba et al., 2016a, 2016b, 2017e; Rattan et al., 2002) and ditch plant species. In short, comprehensive studies evaluating heavy metal contamination status in VDDs to provide a reference for the large-scale control and management of metals are imperative.

5.4. Plant uptake and removal of organic pollutants

Many organic pollutants, including pesticides, polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs), artificial sweeteners and pharmaceutical residues are sequestered in plant tissues (e.g., stems, leaves, or roots) either from soil or air, depending on the properties of the compounds (Dordio et al., 2011a). Generally, the roots are the first plant parts exposed to the organic pollutants thus sequestration through roots is the most common form of absorption. After being assimilated into plants, these pollutants could be degraded via metabolism processes (e.g. transformation of parent organic compounds; conjugation of metabolites with macro molecules; or incorporation of conjugated products into plant cell walls and vacuoles) (Dordio and Carvalho, 2013).

It has been demonstrated that the presence of plants in drainage ditches played a positive role in the mitigation of some organic pollutants such as metalaxyl, thiacloprid, chlorpyrifos, esfenvalerate, linuron, pyrethrin, mesotrione, S-metolachlor, terbuthylazine, carbofurane, caffeine, carbamazepine, carbamazepine, ibuprofen, diclofenac and naproxen, and PAHs (Bennett et al., 2005; Cooper et al., 2004; Crum et al., 1998; Garcinuño et al., 2006; Kröger et al., 2009; Moeder et al., 2017; Moore et al., 2011; Otto et al., 2016). In VDDs, assimilation and retention efficiency of these compounds by vegetation is a function of physical and chemical properties of individual compounds as well as, water and soil characteristics and vegetative structure and morphology of the ditches (Dordio and Carvalho, 2013; Stottmeister et al., 2003; Vallée et al., 2014). Ditch plants assimilated organic pollutants (pesticides and PAHs) mainly in roots (5–1065 μ g kg⁻¹ d.w.) and PAHs accumulation were found in the following order: anthracene (mean 92 ng g^{-1} d.w.), fluoranthene (46 ng g^{-1} d.w.), pyrene (36 ng g^{-1} w.) and phenanthrene (20 ng g^{-1} d.w.) (Moeder et al., 2017).

Moore et al. (2008) studied the effectiveness of perennial plant species like *Lolium multiflorum* (annual ryegrass) and *Hordeum vulgare* (barley) to decrease pesticides in VDDs. Within ditches, pesticide removal encompasses biological (microbial degradation, uptake by plants and organisms), chemical (volatilization, photolysis and degradation) and physical (sorption) processes. Generally, VDD mitigation is based on ditch vegetation cover and density; attributes and abundance of ditch-bed materials (including sediment, living and dead vegetation, and ash); ditch length, reach connections; and flow velocity (Dollinger et al., 2015, 2016; Margoum et al., 2006; Stehle et al., 2011). Many studies investigated the fate of pyrethroids experimentally introduced into slow-flowing VDDs (Bennett et al., 2005; Moore et al., 2001a). These authors found a >99% reduction of pyrethroid concentrations within a 50m segment due to 87% sorption to plants. They also indicated in a further investigation a retention of about 55% and 25% of chlorpyrifos by sediments and plants, respectively, in ditch mesocosms (59-73 m in length). Additionally, they reported a >90% decrease in concentration and in situ toxicity of chlorpyrifos (Moore et al., 2002). Moore et al. (2011) also reported chlorpyrifos and permethrin were reduced by 20% and by 67%, respectively in VDD draining alfalfa and tomato fields. Sorption of pesticides to sediment/soil, and macrophytes could clearly contribute to their reduction in complex ditch habitats (Bennett et al., 2005; Rogers and Stringfellow, 2009). With regards to the mitigation capabilities, an effective VDD length is required. Ditch lengths of 120 m and 280 m were assessed to decrease bifenthrin and lambda cyhalothrin (Bennett et al., 2005). Other researchers reported that VDD length of 40 m to be required to decrease a worst-case runoff-related concentration of the organophosphate insecticide methyl-parathion (Schulz et al., 2003). Additional study is required to assess the efficiency of the systems based on the length. Mitigation of the investigated pesticides in irrigation runoff by VDDs is listed in Table 1.

Other research using ditches to reduce concentrations of the herbicides were successful, with 61% of atrazine and 78% of lambdacyhalothrin being sequestered in ditch plant parts (Moore et al., 2001a). Otto et al. (2016) evaluated the mitigation of mesotrione, *S*metolachlor and terbuthylazine in a vegetated ditch after an extreme runoff event. These findings indicated the distance required to reduce initial concentration by 50% was about 250 m. Generally, at the ditch outlets, concentrations were lowest, and the mitigation was 99%, 91% and 97% for mesotrione, *S*-metolachlor and terbuthylazine, respectively, in 100 m of vegetated ditch for moderate runoffs of low intensity. **Carvalho et al. (2012)** also reported the ability of macrophytes like *Phragmites australis* to assimilate veterinary pharmaceuticals from aquatic media. Generally, VDDs treating domestic sewage reduced DDE, acesulfame, naproxen, ibuprofen, diclofenac and PAHs by 35%, 5.91%, 90%, 96%, 90% and 81% respectively (Moeder et al., 2017).

In summary, the ability to mitigate non-point source inorganic and organic pollutants appears to be another valuable ecological benefit of VDDs besides their primary functions to collect surface/subsurface water, drain excess water and prevent soil erosion. Plant species which possess many proprieties associated with the treatment process may play a key role in VDDs and are important components of the VDD design. Only few species however, have been utilized to treat agricultural runoff and domestic sewage laden with high concentrations of nutrient and organic pollutants in both summer and winter. Screening and identification of ditch plant species with potential for high biomass production and pollutant removal should be a focus of future studies.

5.5. Microbial communities

Because of their bioconcentrating and metabolic attributes in biological mitigation processes (i.e. pollutant degradation, accumulation, and removal), the use of microorganisms is becoming more widespread in surface water and domestic wastewater treatment. Microorganisms are a diverse and highly abundant component in ditch soils/sediments (Baker et al., 2015). Activities of microbial communities implicated in biogeochemical cycles of VDD sediments are essential for the functions of ditches, because they play an important role in nutrient and organic chemical transformation mechanisms (Baker et al., 2015; Scholz and Lee, 2005). An in-depth knowledge of microbial communities and activities within vegetated treatment systems, including VDDs, is required to give a better understanding of how to enhance design and advance management strategies in VDD to minimize pollutant loading to surface water bodies. Pollutant removal and microbial activity in VDDs are closely tied to the cycling of pollutants. Plants can stimulate denitrification (Taylor et al., 2015). For instance, plants could provide substrate and surface for epiphytic bacteria growth, and have significant connection with microbial functional diversity, biomass and activity; they also provide degradable organic matter for denitrification process. Furthermore, microgradients in redox potential located in plant beds can enhance coupled nitrification-denitrification process. Putting all these mechanisms together tends to lead to a greater removal efficiency of nutrients and organic compounds in vegetated ditches than unvegetated ditches. During nitrification, ammonium (NH₄) or ammonia (NH₃) is converted into nitrite (NO₂-N) and then nitrate (NO₃-N) by ammonia-oxidizing bacteria. Ammonia oxidation, the first and rate-limiting step of nitrification processes in a wide range of systems, performed by two major microbial groups under aerobic conditions [ammonia-oxidizing bacteria (AOB) and archaea (AOA) through ammonia monooxygenase (AMO) as the key enzyme], and thus, important to pollutants biodegradation and the global nitrogen biogeochemical cycle.

Denitrification is the main pathway removing N in aquatic environments (Kreiling et al., 2011; Seitzinger et al., 2006), in which nitrate (NO₃-N), the dominant form of inorganic (N) is converted to gaseous forms of N [mainly nitric oxide (NO), and some nitrous oxide (N₂O)], and eventually transformed to N_2 gas, in the absence of oxygen (Seitzinger, 1988; Veraart et al., 2017). Denitrification is a type of anaerobic microbial process driven by denitrifiers, and involves nitrate reductase, nitrite reductase, nitric oxide reductase, and nitrous oxide reductase. In addition to temperature and microbial community structure, three environmental parameters typically determine the occurrence and magnitude of denitrification, namely, anaerobic environments (e.g. low oxygen concentration), degradable organic carbon, and large supply of NO₃ (Kröger et al., 2014; She et al., 2017). Such conditions take place in the anaerobic layer of sediments, but also in biofilms on plants and other substrates (Eriksson and Weisner, 1997). Denitrification is an interesting pathway to target, particularly when dealing with cultivated landscapes and their influences on downstream water bodies and pollutant delivery to rivers (Kröger et al., 2014). Many researchers have reported that microorganisms in VDDs, such as nitrifying archaea, denitrifying fungi, aerobic denitrifying bacterial, and heterotrophic nitrifying bacteria (Veraart et al., 2017), play a significant role in the transformation and mineralization processes of nutrients and various organic pollutants (Baker et al., 2015). Until recently, heterotrophic denitrification was considered as the only pathway available to return fixed N from ecosystems to N₂ in the atmosphere. The discovery of anaerobic oxidation of NH₄ (anammox) in different aquatic environments changed this view (Thamdrup and Dalsgaard, 2002). Recent studies have detected the presence and activity of anammox bacterial genus in VDD sediments, including Candidatus brocadia, C. kuenenia, and C. anammoxoglobus (Shen et al., 2016). Their results also demonstrated that this process contributed 2–19% to VDD sediment N₂ production, suggesting this process is an integral N loss pathway in VDDs. Future works studying the anammox bacterial activity in relation to the environment factors (e.g. water temperature, pH and substrate concentrations) that govern anammox activity in VDDs is particularly critical as many VDD sediments are always saturated with water, which create favorable conditions for anammox bacteria in the sediment to occur (Kröger et al., 2014; Moore et al., 2017). High NO₃ concentrations, appropriate redox conditions and tight land-aquatic coupling also make VDDs potential anammox/denitrification hotspots. Furthermore, biodegradation of organic compounds by microbes in ditches can occur under both aerobic and the anaerobic conditions involving the activities of various microorganisms such as heterotrophic bacteria, autotrophic bacteria, fungi (basidiomycetes and yeasts), and specific protozoa (Kadlec and Wallace, 2009). In summary, there is lack of knowledge on the microbial community structure and diversity in VDD systems. Therefore, identification and cultivation of microorganisms and the genes involved in biodegradation and nitrification/denitrification and more specific studies are needed in future.

6. Factors influencing the removal of nutrients and organic pollutants

Overall, ditch water/wastewater quality is influenced by several factors including but not limited to, type of vegetation, low-grade weirs, type of substrates, maintenance, and seasonal fluctuation, (Kumwimba, 2017; Kumwimba et al., 2017b, 2017c; Sharpley et al., 2007; Smith and Pappas, 2007; Strock et al., 2007). Out of these, low-grade weirs, type of vegetation and sometimes substrate are generally controlled through ditch design. The following sections discuss these influencing factors.

6.1. Low-grade weirs

Scientists as well as land managers are now examining low grade weirs, a controlled drainage strategy in open drainage ditches, to increase removal of pollutants within ditch systems. Low-grade weirs are low, check-dam structures designed to be placed within drainage ditches at different points, based on the slope and length of the given ditch channel (Kröger et al., 2008a). Recent studies have highlighted benefits of using weirs in ditch systems for matters related to increases in hydraulic residence time, decreases in flow velocities at multiple locations, and potential decreases in pollutant concentrations and sediment loads (Kröger et al., 2008b, 2011, 2012). Baker et al. (2016) previously reported that weirs possess the potential to effectively slow water allowing for retention of sediment and nutrients. Kröger et al. (2013) also documented that sediment and P were effectively retained behind weirs. Likewise, weirs have demonstrated to enhance inundation, providing additional suitable habitat conditions for denitrifying bacteria and subsequently provide better conditions for pollution dissipation in ditch systems (Baker et al., 2015). Toet et al. (2005) evaluated the effect of four HRTs, (0.3, 0.8, 2.3, and 9.3 d) on pollutant removal in a VDD system. Their results showed high removal efficiency of N can be accomplished in ditches by increasing HRT (e.g., 4 d). Usborne et al. (2013) investigated eight low-grade weirs for sediment and P accumulation and determined weirs had significantly higher sediment accumulation when compared to reference ditches. Additional works have observed a higher performance of weirs to significantly decrease outlet concentrations and loads of nutrients. Kröger et al. (2011) found significant decreases (79%) in nitrate (NO_3^-) concentration between ditch inlet and outlet with weirs. A study on ditches with weirs from Littlejohn et al. (2014) indicate similar influences on HRT and nutrient reductions of N and P ranging from 14 to 67% in a field-scale investigation. Weirs in drainage ditches maintain soil in a more saturated state, creating anaerobic conditions that optimize biogeochemical processes such as denitrification, ammonia volatilization, and plant accumulation. Kröger et al. (2014) reported that weirs provide improved HRTs and promote better conditions for N dissipation in ditches via denitrification (e.g., 2215 μ g of N/m²/h). On the contrary, Baker et al. (2016) observed both systems with and without weirs, demonstrate the capability of reducing nutrients which is assumed to be caused by hydrological variability (i.e., ditches with and without weirs presented the same flow patterns and with similar mean HRT), but indicated more research is needed to confirm this conclusion by giving attention to precipitation events and the ratio of watershed to drainage ditch area. What then is the appropriate height for weirs? The answer to this question could affect the removal efficiency during pulse events such as storms. Taken together, these results suggest the use of low-grade weirs in VDDs should be considered a viable BMP aiming to mitigate pollutants; moreover, further study of N dynamics is needed to ensure their efficacy or limitation.

6.2. Plant species

Nutrients in ditch water and soils promote both plant growth and biomass production. Plants have been documented to be one of the most effective management practices to decrease the transport of pollutants in agricultural drainage as they provide essential biological functions and supply ecosystems benefits in aquatic environments (Kröger et al., 2009; Bundschuh et al., 2016; Saunders, 2007; Kumwimba et al., 2017b). As one of the most conspicuous features of ditches, plants play another role important in pollutant removal because they may assimilate pollutants from water and sediment/soil, and supply surface area for periphyton and bacteria which cause various biological processes to occur in the rhizosphere. Vegetation in ditches also decreases water velocity, increases HRT, as well as indirectly impacts or creates conditions suitable for pollutant removal (Deaver et al., 2005; Kumwimba et al., 2017b; Kröger et al., 2008a, 2009; Lai et al., 2011; Li et al., 2016; Silvan et al., 2004; Schulz et al., 2003; Vallée et al., 2014; Vaughan et al., 2008; Zhang et al., 2008). Plants within ditches may also facilitate the sedimentation of suspended particles, decrease sediment re-suspension and turbidity, and as a result serve to sequester pollutants. In addition, organic detritus from decaying plant residues promotes the accumulation and supply of organic matter in ditches, thus stabilizing sediment (Needelman et al., 2007). Studies have also reported that plants impact denitrification rates directly and indirectly (de Klein, 2008; Kröger et al., 2014). Plants within ditches have many properties in relation to the treatment of polluted water process that make them an indispensable component of the design. For example, plants can remove nutrients and other pollutants by direct uptake and sequestration into biomass or retention (Bouldin et al., 2005; Hoagland et al., 2001; Kumwimba et al., 2017f; Moeder et al., 2017; Moore and Kröger, 2010a, 2010b; Moore et al., 2013; Tyler et al., 2012). Pollutants accumulated by vegetation can be purified through the harvest of aboveground biomass (Vymazal, 2007). Liu et al. (2013) investigated the impact of VDDs on the P adsorption capacity of ditch soils. Their results indicated that plants in VDDs have the potential to increase P retention in the VDD soils. As a result, any change of plant composition is likely to drive modifications within the microbial community and subsequently affect the removal of nutrients from the system. When compared to unvegetated ditches, vegetated ditches are more efficient at removing pollutants (Zhang et al., 2016a, 2016b; Kumwimba et al., 2017b, 2017f). Within VDDs, Moeder et al. (2017) found that ditch vegetation (Typha domingensis) contributed to natural attenuation of the 38 selected organic chemicals (pesticides, PAHs, artificial sweeteners and pharmaceutical residues). Several other smaller-scale mesocosm investigations have observed the abilities of plants to remove some pharmaceuticals such as diclofenac, ibuprofen, ketoprofen, naproxen, salicylic acid, amoxicillin, ampicillin, erythromycin, sulfadiazine, sulfamethazine, sulfamethoxazole, atenolol, clofibric acid, carbamazepine and caffeine (Dordio et al., 2009, 2010, 2011b; D.O. Zhang et al., 2012, 2013a; J. Zhang et al., 2013b). Generally, the uptake and translocation of organic chemicals within plants can be simply driven by diffusion (Dordio and Carvalho, 2013; Li et al., 2017). In mesocosm experiments designed to mimic ditch treatment processes, species such as Leersia oryzoides, Typha latifolia, Saururus cernuus, Myriophyllum spicatum, and Echinodorus cordifolius were found to be more efficient at mitigating nutrients (Tyler et al., 2012, Moore and Kröger, 2010a, 2010b). Kumwimba et al. (2017f) exposed 18 plant species found in ditches to domestic sewage (e.g., TN: 59 mg/L and TP: 5 mg/L) and showed that Acorus calamus, Canna indica, C. generalis, Cyperus alternifolius, Colocasia gigantea, Eichhornia crassipes, Iris sibirica, and Typha latifolia had the highest efficiencies for N and P removal. Kumwimba et al. (2017a, 2017b, 2017c, 2017d, 2017e, 2017f) and Moore et al. (2013) found seasonal variation in nutrient mitigation for plant species between summer and winter. These authors concluded that no single species was most effective in eliminating nutrients and removal efficiencies were different depending on the season. Given the various ways plants can improve the removal of pollutants from the water column; it is possible that some species are more effective at mitigation than others (Tyler et al., 2012). As a result, maintaining a variety of different species (e.g., polycultures than monocultures) in VDDs with complementary pollutant removal capabilities may be required to effectively reduce these pollutants sustainably throughout the year (Bouldin et al., 2005, Tyler et al., 2012). Macrophytes found in drainage ditches can be classified into four groups: Emergent plants, floating leaved rooted plants, submerged plants and free-floating plants. Table S1 displays the most commonly used plants in VDDs for the

treatment of polluted waters. In summary, flow velocities in ditches are often low except during pulse events (e.g., storms). These characteristics, often in conjunction with high nutrient concentrations in both ditch water and soils, promote plant growth and biomass production. Consequently, understanding how plants impact the fate and transport of these pollutants is particularly relevant for the performance of VDD systems.

6.3. Plant harvesting

Nutrients and other pollutants assimilated by ditch plants have been reported. In VDDs, aquatic plants grow and emerge during spring and summer, but at the beginning of autumn, plants begin to decay and decompose during the rest of the year, In their study, Kumwimba et al. (2017c) found plant harvesting can also enhance pollutant removal efficiencies in VDDs, as the purification stage is followed by the decay stage. Reddy et al. (1999) reported that aboveground plant tissues releases N and P to the water column, while belowground plant tissues release N and P to the sediment. Kröger et al. (2007a, 2007b) demonstrated that wetland plants are capable of retaining nutrients in high concentrations, but decomposition of vegetation may lead to the release of the retained nutrients, thus, becoming a source of nutrients to the water column. Nahlik and Mitsch (2006) explained that harvested plants are often deposited adjacent to the wetlands, thereby allowing nutrients to return to the wetland upon decomposition. The benefit of plant harvesting for the removal of nutrients or plant growth and productivity and nutrient cycling in treatment systems has been reported. Annual (Kadlec and Wallace, 2009; Toet et al., 2005) and multiple harvestings of plant biomass (Jinadasa et al., 2008; Vymazal et al., 2010) strategies have been proposed as a good option for a system's management and performance. Regular harvesting of the shoots can stimulate new growth of plants and thus enhance plant uptake and storage capacity for N and P, consequently enhancing water purification and improving flow efficiency within systems (Kuehn and Suberkropp, 1998). Harvested biomass can be utilized directly as animal or human food sources, green compost material, energy (via bioenergy plants) and biofuels. Luo et al. (2017) have proposed Myriophyllum aquaticum for processing into animal feed and organic fertilizer. Making better use of harvested biomass as valuable by-products can supply important economic advantages to offset the labor costs. Zhao et al. (2012) analyzed chemical composition of plant parts for heavy metals, and found that, according to the National Research Council (NRC, 2000) and China Feed Database (2009) standards (GB 13078-2001), harvested biomass can be utilized to feed livestock. However, standards are different depending on national guidelines; such an approach can result in metal accumulation. Such proposed utilization of biomass requires further research to assess the impacts of long-term consumption of elevated state nutrients and metals. Taken together, the results suggest that an appropriate biomass harvest practice is critical to reach sustainable performance, as the harvesting strategy could increase plant growth and prevent release of pollutants back into water column. In addition, plant recycling may be advantageous in the successful recovery of these pollutants.

6.4. Seasonal fluctuation

Another major concern is the uncertainty surrounding the performance of VDDs under cold climatic conditions and the influence of temperature on biologically/microbiologically mediated treatment processes. With respect to seasonal fluctuation, many research studies have clearly found higher efficiencies of nutrients (N and P) removal in VDDs during warm seasons (Chen et al., 2015; Fu et al., 2014; Kumwimba, 2017; Kumwimba et al., 2017c); however, their performance in low temperatures is still questionable. Typically, as water temperature increase, biochemical processes occur at higher rates in aquatic ecosystems, which could further result in a rapid cycling of nutrients, carbon and oxygen in ditch water column and sediment. Chen et al. (2015) analyzed water quality data for a 200 m long VDDs treating agricultural drainage and found that the removal rates in warms months (April-August) were 2-4 times higher than in cooler months (September-March). Similarly, Kumwimba (2017) and Kumwimba et al. (2017c) observed higher nutrient removal efficiencies in summer and spring rather than winter. Temperature variation considerably impacts the growth and reproduction of microbes. In low temperatures, the metabolism and activity of nitrifying and denitrifying bacteria tend to reduce, which in turn influences the denitrification processes (de Klein, 2008). In the Wageningen test ditch systems, de Klein (2008) reported the effects of temperature were not restricted to the denitrification process itself, as it also involved other processes supporting N removal. Veraart et al. (2011) assessed effects of warming on denitrification rates using microcosm experiments, field measurements and a simple model approach. Their results demonstrated denitrification in aquatic ecosystems is strongly temperature dependent, and that observed effects of temperature on denitrification could be explained by correlated temperature effects on dissolved oxygen. Luo et al. (2005) found that the removal efficiency for N is inhibited when temperatures drop below 10 °C, especially below 6 °C and denitrification is almost stopped under 4 °C (Cookson et al., 2002). Nivala et al. (2007) reported that cold temperatures could impact the metabolism of macrophytes, which provokes a lack of oxygen in the rhizome and subsequently depresses microbial activities. Generally, N removal was largely dependent on microbial activity in root zones and has been demonstrated to be temperature sensitive. In pure cultures, Vymazal (2005) found that the optimum temperature for nitrification ranged from 25 to 35 °C. Other studies reported that ammonia volatilization increased 1.3-3.5 times with each 10 °C rise in temperature from 0 to 30 °C, and denitrification rates almost doubled (1.5-2.0 with each 10 °C increment) (Ng and Gunaratne, 2011). In summary, successful VDD treatment system likely will occur in warm areas, as low temperature conditions may negatively influence treatment effectiveness. The possibility of enhancing the performance of treatment VDDs and future development on the use of VDDs in low temperatures are needed.

6.5. Hydraulic retention time

Hydrology is one of the key parameters governing VDD functions, and flow velocities can also be regulated to reach an adequate treatment performance (Toet et al., 2005). The HRT refers to the average time during which chemicals are in contact with substrates (e.g., soil/sediment) and rhizosphere, which means that HRT could be enhanced by reducing HLR or even enhancing water depth. For removal of these pollutants to occur, a longer HRT must be maintained in a VDD. As mentioned above, plants within VDDs can provide a variety of biological functions and alter the hydrology. Stands of emergent and submerged vegetation generate ditch roughness, drag, and friction, and provide structural complexity that serve to attenuate flow velocity and increase chemical residence time (Kröger et al., 2009). Flow resistance by transport through and around vegetation results in flow becoming usually deeper and slower compared to unvegetated ditches (Soana et al., 2017; Kröger et al., 2009; Liu et al., 2012; Rhoads and Massey, 2012; Zhao et al., 2017). Liu et al. (2012) suggested the ratio between ditch length and width should be enough to improve the hydraulic efficiency. Typically, longer HRT allows for more interaction between chemicals and farmland drainage, whereas at a high hydraulic loading rate (HLR/low HRT), polluted water moves quickly to the outflow, decreasing the contact time among polluted water, rhizosphere, and organisms (Bouldin et al., 2005). In VDDs, a better removal efficiency could reach 90% for aqueous-phase insecticides and 60% for herbicides with a velocity < 0.3 m/s. However, when velocity is about 1 m/s, pesticide attenuation is strongly limited (Dabrowski et al., 2005; Gregoire et al., 2009). In a 152 m stream mesocosm treating wastewater in central California, USA, Craggs et al. (1996) reported that by decreasing the HLR from

 1.36 m d^{-1} to 0.44 m d^{-1} , the nutrient removal capacity was improved, which resulted in lower P levels in the outlet. Besides HLR and slope, the HRT is dependent on both the length and width of the system as well as the water depth. Other researchers found a clear correlation between the nutrient loading rate and the nutrient removal rate (Mulbry et al., 2008; Castaldelli et al., 2018). A study reported that there was a nonlinear correlation between flow rate and N removal rates (Kangas and Mulbry, 2014). Li et al. (2016) reported that plants and the weirs within VDDs also slowed water flow and extended HRT, which could strengthen N removal. In replicate VDDs, Toet et al. (2005) assessed the impact of four HRTs (e.g., 0.3, 0.8, 2.3, and 9.3 d) on pollutants removal, and demonstrated favorable N removal with a HRT of 9.3 d when compared with other HRTs. These authors further stated that annual P removal was not enhanced by increasing the HRT in VDDs even up to 9.3 d because of the high P mass loading rate. In simulated microcosm systems, Hunter et al. (2001) reported that NH₄-N and PO₄-P removal were considerably higher with a 6 d HRT (80% and 55%) than a 2 d HRT (53% and 29%). Similarly, Shin et al. (2004) found that NH₄-N, NO₃-N, and PO₄-P removal by plants was greater at longer HRTs. Lu et al. (2018) investigated the effects of HRT (e.g., 10 d, 20 d, and 30 d) in water tanks to mimic natural conditions of ponds with plants. These authors indicated that nutrient (TN, NH₄-N, NO₃-N, TP) removal by all three plant ponds could be improved with greater HRT (30 d). In VDD, a low HRT can be linked with incomplete denitrification, and many authors have found that N removal necessitates a longer HRT compared with that needed for decrease turbidity and fecal coliforms (Toet et al., 2005). In their experiments, Li et al. (2016) found that N removal efficiency in VDDs could be impacted by four factors (e.g., influent N concentration > water level > water flow> and suspended solid concentration). Taken together, all the direct evidences suggest that removal efficiency of these pollutants in VDDs is also dependent on the key hydrologic variables, including HLR, HRT, and water depth. Both HLR and HRT have been connected to considerable changes of downstream water quality. Hence, hydrologic variables should be taken into consideration as a critical parameter for management and achieving sustainable treatment performance.

6.6. Selection of substrate material for periphytic biofilms establishment in VDDs

This review has demonstrated that VDDs can be used to mitigate pollutants. However, their performance to decrease these pollutants could be also improved by using suitable substrates (e.g., pumice, coconut fiber, perlite, coarse soil, bamboo, charcoal, peat, sand, and compost). In ditches, the types of substrates might also dictate the establishment of periphyton assemblages and the microbial community structure. A porous media, such as expanded clay, provides a large surface area for wastewater treatment and development of periphytic biofilms. Substrates play a key role in the overall retention of pollutants in drainage ditches (Collins et al., 2016; Fu et al., 2014; Kumwimba et al., 2017c; Li et al., 2016; Liu et al., 2015; Sakadevan and Bavor, 1998; Simon, 2003). Sediments represent a major long-term P sink in ditches, accounting for over 50% of the total standing stock, compared to the other components, such as plants, detritus and water column (Sakadevan and Bavor, 1998; Simon, 2003). Collins et al. (2016), found the capacity of ditches to retain or release P and N differed significantly with sediment characteristics. Their results also demonstrated P uptake was higher in a ditch with organic sediment compared to a ditch with a mineral substrate. Major P removal processes in drainage ditches are achieved largely by adsorption. Furthermore, substrates provide surfaces to allow direct sorption of metal ions. The use of alternative substrates to enhance the retention of pollutants have been proposed by earlier studies but not widely investigated. Fu et al. (2014) reported that the performance of VDDs treating primary sewage can be significantly improved by optimizing the substrates (i.e., system of gravel and geogrid) which optimizes microbial community growth by providing a stable environment. Ullah and Faulkner (2006) investigated microbial denitrification potential of both drainage ditches and constructed wetlands. Results from this study found statistically higher denitrification potentials for fine textured soils as compared to typical siltloam agricultural soils. It was noted, however, that soil temperature in these systems significantly affects microbial activity, which in turn affects denitrification activity. Roley et al. (2012) noted that freshly excavated soil may be limited in microbial activity due to the change in substrate. Previous research by Groffman (1994) and Groffman and Tiedje (1989) demonstrated finer textured soils resulted in higher organic matter content and thus greater microbial denitrification rates. The amount of microbial biomass is relational to denitrification rates and turnover of N (Groffman and Tiedje, 1989). Inwood et al. (2007) documented denitrification reduced with increasing substrate size due to greater surface area per volume of substratum for microbial colonization on smaller substrata. In their experiment, Li et al. (2016) found volcanic rocks and brick fragments in the VDD had a large surface area, high porosity, and showed an ability to remove N. T. Wang et al. (2017a), and X. Wang (2017b) investigated N removal using a combined VDD with zeolite, and high N removal efficiency was reported suggesting zeolite was a good substrate for microorganism growth. Another study investigated two substrates (rice straw, plastic filling and no substrate) and reported higher TN removal as well as higher abundance of the nitrifying and denitrifying bacteria in the treatment with rice straw as substrate than the other two treatments (Cao and Zhang, 2014). In summary, substrate may offer a suitable growing medium for ditch species and also allow successful transport of water. In addition, substrate sorption could play a significant role in absorbing these pollutants. More research is needed on the efficiencies of different ditch media and their roles in pollutant removal.

6.7. Two-stage ditches

A two-stage ditch (Fig. S2) is a management practice that has been recognized in recent years as an alternative to traditional trapezoidal drainage ditch design to keep flow capacity and stability. It has been modified by adding adjacent floodplains or benches that are inundated by surface flow during storms, thus pipes entering into the ditch to drain in the floodplain, slowing water velocities, and reducing erosion potential. These characteristics of two-stage ditches can be a good tool to reduce pollutants. Earlier studies have found that two-stage ditches provide the potential to decrease sediment load and promote longer residence times between water, floodplain plant and soil allowing higher assimilation of pollutants by the plant and enhancing the denitrification rates (Davis et al., 2015; Hodaj et al., 2017; Roley et al., 2012). Some authors found denitrification rates were enhanced considerable in the benches of the two-stage ditch compared with the side-slopes of the traditional ditch (Powell and Bouchard, 2010). Roley et al. (2012) reported that the assimilation of organic matter on the benches of the two-stage ditch improved the denitrification rates. However, their performance on some mechanisms such as denitrification and plant uptake may be dependent on specific dimensions of the twostage ditches (e.g., floodplain area, width and depth of the main channel) (Davis et al., 2015; Hodaj et al., 2017). In summary, more indepth knowledge is required on pollutant concentrations and loads linked with two-stage ditches, as management practice.

6.8. Maintenance for VDDs

Drainage ditches are the final line for defence before pollutants reach larger water bodies such as rivers and lakes. Therefore, management strategies of ditch water and sediments are extremely important for controlling the risk of pollutants entering aquatic ecosystems. This review showed that ditches have a potential risk of releasing pollutants into the water column and sediments. In relation to downstream water-quality, ditch sediment accumulation for extended periods must be minimized, for example by periodically removing sediment, i.e. dredging, as part of a remediation program. Sediments are considered sinks rather than sources for most pollutants in disturbed environments. It has been reported that metals are immobile in bottom sediments as long as the sediment remains undisturbed (Wasserman et al., 2013). Many studies have reported management strategies in ditches aimed at frequently clearing plants and removing sediment (Dollinger et al., 2017; Kröger et al., 2009; Levavasseur et al., 2014; Needelman et al., 2007; Twisk et al., 2003). Other studies have proposed dredging technologies to remove pollutants from polluted soils (Bortone et al., 2004; Wilhelmsson and Fly, 2012). However, ditch dredging has shown to be potentially harmful to the environment (Fathollahzadeh et al., 2015; Licursi and Gomez, 2009; Nguyen and Sukias, 2002; Prat et al., 1999; Shigaki et al., 2008; Smith et al., 2006). Generally, management practices within a drainage ditch are ultimately a key factor that influence ditch characteristics including plant species and cover, substrate types, and hydraulic structures (e.g., weirs), which consequently directly/or indirectly influence a variety of pollutant removal processes as well as ditch ecosystem functioning (Dollinger et al., 2015). Most common management practices encompass dredging, mowing, chemical weeding and burning using manual techniques (Dollinger et al., 2015, 2017). The direct impact of these operations on the functional and structural characteristics of drainage ditches can be considerable (Table S2) (Smith and Huang, 2010; Smith and Pappas, 2007; Dollinger et al., 2015; Sharpley et al., 2007; Needelman et al., 2007; Kröger et al., 2009): (1) removal of vegetation or alterations of plant species composition through dredging can change or remove the biota sheltered within the ditch responsible for pollutant assimilation; (2) properties of bed material in drainage ditches can be modified after dredging and burning, thus changing the hydrology of the ditch with increased flow velocities and reduced residence times; and (3) greater quantities of pollutants delivered downstream through dredging can have negative environmental and water quality impacts. These impacts can be minimized, for example, by restricting dredging operations to times when pollutant loads are expected to be high, thereby minimizing potential impacts on water quality. Palermo et al. (2008) have introduced a very useful concept-sediment management units (SMU) - for dredging procedures. This constitute a pilot scale portion but representative of the whole dredging area where dredging equipment and the different dredging procedures can be tested and evaluated before embarking on the overall dredging process. These SMU could be used as a function of the physical characteristics of the overall sediments, depth to be dredged, current or wave regimes, concentrations of different pollutants. Moore et al. (2017) investigated the influence of dredging on nutrient concentrations and ecoenzymatic activity in two ditch sediments in the lower Mississippi River Valley. Their results suggested that before undertaking any significant dredging activities, adverse environmental impacts such as nutrient release, loss of buffering capacity, and decreased microbial activity should be weighed against the intended benefits of improved water flow. Iseyemi et al. (2016) investigated the effect of routine mowing of VDDs on pollutant mitigation and examined their transformation along ditch length. Their results demonstrated no significant difference in the mitigation capacities between two treatments (e.g., mowed and unmowed ditches). They concluded that occasional ditch mowing as a management practice would not undermine N and P mitigation capacity of VDDs.

Taken together, all the results discussed above suggest that ditch maintenance could be an efficient practice to maximize ditch services since a number of VDD characteristics vary considerably with ditch maintenance. However, assessing an appropriate approach for the maintenance of the VDDs for enhancing a variety of ditch benefits (Fig. S1) remains the most challenging mission.

7. Incorporation of electron donor carbon for anaerobic removal of pollutant

Generally, an external electron donor is incorporated in water purification systems to improve potential denitrification rates and thus N removal. The selection of an electron donor is crucial for both suitable denitrification rates and long-term effective treatment performance in VDDs. Many electron donors have been utilized to purify various types of wastewater (Burchell et al., 2007; Faust et al., 2016; Greenan et al., 2006; Ingersoll and Baker, 1998; Liu et al., 2015). In ditch systems, the routes that contribute to N removal mainly include microbial nitrification-denitrification and plant uptake, which is considered to be the prevailing and long-term long-term mechanism for N removal. The use of low-grade weirs in VDDs increases nutrient removal by creating anaerobic conditions favorable for denitrification, in which an electron donor (e.g., organic carbon) is required. Denitrification rates of microbial communities in turn may be affected by many factors, including temperature, nitrate concentration and especially the organic carbon source. Carbon sources in a VDD system may be derived from soil, sewage, or plant decomposition. The rate at which NO₃-N is reduced to N₂ during (heterotrophic) denitrification is largely dependent on the bioavailability of an electron donor (usually in the form of organic materials such as glucose, fructose, wheat straw, cellulose and plant litters), and could be utilized to enhance the denitrification efficiency in organic carbon-limited ditches (Lin et al., 2002). Previous studies reported that treatment systems can possibly utilize plant biomass or root release, as the source of carbon to maintain denitrification (Zhai et al., 2013). Other studies demonstrated that carbon source only from the root exudates of emergent plants is not enough to sustain a good treatment performance of systems.

7.1. Organic carbon amendments

The feasibility of supplying different carbon sources to improve potential denitrification rate in treatment systems has been widely studied in recent years. In their investigation on ditch sediments, Burchell et al. (2007) demonstrated increasing organic matter (e.g., straw) resulted in considerable increases in nitrate removal. Other studies used various organic materials in stream bioreactors and found that nitrate removal was in the following order: cornstalks > cardboard, >wood chips and oil > wood chips (Greenan et al., 2006; Liu et al., 2015). Liu et al. (2015) performed a pilot-scale field trial of organic carbon barriers in VDDs, and found rice straw provided high removal rate of nutrients (e.g., 73% for NH_4^+ – N and 96% for NO_3^- – N). These authors also reported that the amount of rice straw supplied to VDDs was positively correlated with nutrient removal. Faust et al. (2016) examined effects of drainage ditch sediments with externally added organic matter (glucose or Cynodon dactylon hay) on NO₃-N removal and reported the removal of nitrate ranged from 83% to 100%. Studies on the relative performance of various carbon materials is therefore essential for a more informed choice of external electron donors to use in VDDs, based on the specific requirements of the system such as availability of nitrate concentrations, presence of anaerobic conditions, maintenance, availability of substrates, and cost. Taken together, these results suggest that amendments of organic carbon to ditch sediment enhance pollutant removal. Moreover, further investigations on the forms of organic carbon required for successful pollutant removal result are necessary.

8. Conclusions and future research needs

This review summarized studies on nutrients and organic pollutants removal in VDDs and to determine the most significant factors that influence pollutant removal processes. It has been widely acknowledged that VDDs are quite suitable for the treatment of nutrients and other pollutants from domestic sewage and agricultural runoff after years of research and implementation. This paper shows that much has been learned, much progress in the functional characteristics and dynamic management of VDDs has been made in removing major pollutants, and the long-term use of ditch treatment system has been improved as well. For instance, positive results in VDDs for in situ treatment of untreated domestic sewage can be achieved by: (1) the installation of weirs within drainage ditches at multiple locations (e.g., appropriate HRT), (2) management strategies within VDDs, (3) plant typology, (4) choice of suitable sediment composition (gravel, sand, silt and clay particles), (5) organic carbon amendments, (6) pollutant loading rate and others. Fig. 3 synthesizes the major ruling functional characteristics of VDDs for domestic sewage and agricultural runoff. In a context of rapid socio-economic development, lifestyle, and environmental condition changes in rural regions, there has been an increased interest in assessing the suitability of VDDs for treating rural non-point source pollution. However, VDDs are still laced with some challenges, and further investigations and development studies are required. In summary (see also Fig. 3):

- (1) The results of review on bed properties (substrates) and functional characteristics (types of plants and biofilm) indicate water quality improved within VDDs and also demonstrates strong interactions among plant species, substrates and microorganisms, which in turn influenced other processes. Therefore, these three components are still significant for the long-term operation of VDDs in reducing nutrients and other pollutants removal within VDDs. Hence, more attention is required for studies examining suitable plant species. Species with the following characteristics would be ideal: fast growth rate, high plant biomass, ability to grow in temperate and cold environments, easy harvesting and accumulation of a range of nutrients and organic pollutants in their aboveground biomass or any other harvestable plant biomass, and appropriate characteristics to survive under high pollutant levels and high pollutant removal capacity. Most recent studies have focused on the ability of ditches to remove nutrients from farm fields by comparing only the entrance and exit concentrations, which provide little insight into the expected performance of ditches. A rigorous investigation focusing on the abilities of various ditch plants to take up these pollutants under different climates is required, particularly for cold climates. Seasonal variations of pollutant uptake by plants, particularly in areas with important winter frost, are still limited in the literature, and further research is needed in this area. Research in regions with warm climates has seldom taken into account the winter months. In addition, substrate types which have high sorption capacity and are beneficial to removal processes is a research area that must be developed and utilized for VDDs.
- (2) In addition to plants, substrates, and microorganisms, the review indicates that the optimal treatment performance of VDDs is critically dependent on low-grade weirs, environmental factors, maintenance, and seasonal variations. Therefore, future studies are recommended on how these parameters can be optimized to improve the function of ditches. Biomass productivity is one of the most noticeable and significant factors for characterizing the structure and function of drainage ditches. Harvesting of aboveground biomass from the ditch is an appropriate intervention to prevent release of pollutants in the dormant season (Kumwimba et al., 2016c; Kröger et al., 2007b).
- (3) PPCPs in VDDs are removed as a result of complex processes. Currently, available studies on removal processes (e.g., sorption, plant uptake and biological degradation) are limited. Despite the widespread presence of drainage ditches, very few studies have assessed their role in the export of PPCPs and heavy metals. Furthermore, most studies were focused on chemical monitoring at the inlet and outlet to analyze the removal of certain organic pollutants (e.g., pesticides) within the ditches. Therefore, further research is sorely needed in order to describe and understand the removal pathways or fate processes of these pollutants in VDD systems.

To date the number of studies that have been conducted with twostage ditches, effect of ditch length and ditch water level remains rather limited. Comprehensive studies assessing effects of these parameters on pollutant removal are necessary. Furthermore, a number of ditch characteristics can extensively change with ditch maintenance; a better understanding of the influence of the common maintenance activities (e.g., dredging, vegetation removal) on the performance of ditches to remove these pollutants is recommended for future research. Overall, a long-term investigation on the use of VDDs for treating domestic sewage and agricultural runoff under different ditch management practices will be required.

Acknowledgments

This study was supported by the National Natural Science Foundation of China (No. 51622813, 51608546 and 51478487), the Natural Science Foundation of Guangdong Province (No. 2014A030306002), and the Science and Technology Planning Project of Guangdong Province (No. 2015A020215014).



Appendix A. Supplementary data

Supplementary data to this article can be found online at https://doi. org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.05.184.

References

- Ahiablame, L., Chaubey, I., Smith, D., 2010. Nutrient content at the sediment-water interface of tile-fed agricultural drainage ditches. Water 2 (3), 411–428.
- Ahmed, F., Gulliver, J.S., Nieber, J.L., 2015. Field infiltration measurements in grassed roadside drainage ditches: spatial and temporal variability. J. Hydrol. 530, 604–611.
- Alexander, R.B., Smith, R.A., Schwarz, G.E., Boyer, E.W., Nolan, J.V., Brakebill, J.W., 2008. Differences in phosphorus and nitrogen delivery to the Gulf of Mexico from the Mississippi River Basin. Environ. Sci. Technol. 42, 822–830.
- Baker, B.H., Kröger, R., Brooks, J.P., Smith, R.K., Prince-Czarnecki, J.M., 2015. Investigation of denitrifying microbial communities within an agricultural drainage system fitted with low-grade weirs. Water Res. 87, 193–201.
- Baker, B.H., Kröger, R., Prevost, J.D., Pierce, T., Ramirez-Avila, J.J., Prince-Czarnecki, J.M., Faust, D., Flora, C., 2016. A field-scale investigation of nutrient and sediment reduction efficiencies of a low-technology best management practice: low-grade weirs. Ecol. Eng. 91, 240–248.
- Barlow, K., Nash, D., Turral, H., Grayson, R., 2003. Phosphorus uptake and release in surface drains. Agric. Water Manag. 63, 109–123.
- Bennett, E.R., Moore, M.T., Cooper, C.M., Smith Jr., S., Shields Jr., F.D., Drouillard, K.G., Schulz, R., 2005. Vegetated agricultural drainage ditches for the mitigation of pyrethroid associated runoff. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 24, 2121–2127.
- Bortone, G., Arevalo, E., Deibel, I., Detzner, H., De Propris, L., Elskens, F., Giordano, A., Hakstege, P., Hamer, K., Harmsen, J., Hauge, A., Palumbo, L., van Veen, J., 2004. Synthesis of the SedNet work package 4 outcomes. J. Soils Sediments 4, 225–232.
- Bouldin, J.L., Farris, J.L., Moore, M.T., Cooper, C.M., 2005. Vegetative and structural characteristics of agricultural drainages in the Mississippi Delta landscapes. Environ. Pollut. 132, 403–411.
- Bowmer, K.H., Bales, M., Roberts, J., 1994. Potential use of irrigation drains as wetlands. Water Sci. Technol. 29, 151–158.
- Buchanan, B.P., Falbo, K., Schneider, R.L., Easton, Z.M., Walter, M.T., 2013. Hydrological impact of roadside ditches in an agricultural watershed in Central New York: implications for non-point source pollutant transport. Hydrol. Process. 27, 2422–2437.
- Bundschuh, M., Elsaesser, D., Stang, C., Schulz, R., 2016. Mitigation of fungicide pollution in detention ponds and vegetated ditches within a vine-growing area in Germany. Ecol. Eng. 89, 121–130.
- Burchell, M. R., Skaggs, R.W., Lee, C.R., Broome, S., Chescheir, G.M., Osborne, J., 2007. Substrate organic matter to improve nitrate removal in surface-flow constructed wetlands. J. Environ. Qual. 36 (1), 194–207.
- Cai, S., Shi, H., Pan, X., Liu, F., Cui, Y., Xie, H., 2017. Integrating ecological restoration of agricultural non-point source pollution in Poyang Lake Basin in China. Water 9:745. https://doi.org/10.3390/w9100745.
- Cao, W., Zhang, Y., 2014. Removal of nitrogen (N) from hypereutrophic waters by ecological floating beds (EFBs) with various substrates. Ecol. Eng. 62, 148–152.
- Carpenter, S.R., Caraco, N.F., Correl, D.L., Howarth, R.W., Sharpley, A.N., Smith, V.H., 1998. Nonpoint pollution of surface waters with phosphorus and nitrogen. Ecol. Appl. 8 (3), 559–568.
- Carvalho, P.N., Basto, M.C., Almeida, C.M.R., 2012. Potential of *Phragmites australis* for the removal of veterinary pharmaceuticals from aquatic media. Bioresour. Technol. 116, 497–501.
- Castaldelli, G., Aschonitis, V., Vincenzi, F., Fano, E.A., Soana, E., 2018. The effect of water velocity on nitrate removal in vegetated waterways. J. Environ. Manag. 215, 230–238.
- Chen, L., Liu, F., Wang, Y., Li, X., Zhang, S., Li, Y., Wu, J., 2015. Nitrogen removal in an ecological ditch receiving agricultural drainage in subtropical central China. Ecol. Eng. 82, 487–492.
- China Feed Database, 2009. Tables of Feed Composition and Nutritive Values in China. 20th rev. ed. China Agric. Press, Beijing (in Chinese).
- Collins, S.D., Shukla, S., Shrestha, N.K., 2016. Drainage ditches have sufficient adsorption capacity but inadequate residence time for phosphorus retention in the Everglades. Ecol. Eng. 92, 218–228.
- Cookson, W., Cornforth, I., Rowarth, J., 2002. Winter soil temperature (2–15 °C) effects on nitrogen transformations in clover green manure amended or unamended soils: a laboratory and field study. Soil Biol. Biochem. 34, 1401–1415.
- Cooman, A., Schrevens, E., 2006. A Monte Carlo approach for estimating the uncertainty of predictions with the tomato plant growth model TOMGRO. Biosyst. Eng. 94, 517–524.
- Cooper, C.M., Moore, M.T., Bennett, E.R., Smith, S., Farris, J.L., 2002. Alternative environmental benefits of agricultural drainage ditches. Ver. Int. Ver. Theor. Angew. Limnol. 28, 1678–1682.
- Cooper, C.M., Moore, M.T., Bennett, E.R., Smith, S., Farris, J.L., Milam, C.D., Shields, F.D., 2004. Innovative uses of vegetated drainage ditches for reducing agricultural runoff. Water Sci. Technol. 49, 117–123.
- Coulson, J.C., Butterfield, J.E.L., Henderson, E., 1990. The effect of open drainage ditches on the plant and invertebrate communities of moorland and on the decomposition of peat. J. Appl. Ecol. 27, 549–561.
- Craggs, R., Adey, W., Jessup, B., Oswald, W., 1996. A controlled stream mesocosm for tertiary treatment of sewage. Ecol. Eng. 6, 149–169.
- Crum, SJ.H., Aalderink, G.H., Brock, T.C.M., 1998. Fate of the herbicide linuron in outdoor experimental ditches. Chemosphere 36, 2175–2190.
- Dabney, S.M., Moore, M.T., Locke, M.A., 2006. Integrated management of in-field, edge-offield, and after-field buffers. J. Am. Water Resour. Assoc. 42, 15–24.

- Dabrowski, J.M., Bennett, E.R., Bollen, A., Schulz, R., 2005. Mitigation of azinphos-methyl in a vegetated stream: comparison of runoff-and spay-drift. Chemosphere 62, 204–212.
- Davis, J.R., Koop, K., 2006. Eutrophication in Australian rivers, reservoirs and estuaries: a southern hemisphere perspective on the science and its implications. Hydrobiologia 559 (1), 23–76.
- Davis, R.T., Tank, J.L., Mahl, U.H., Winikoff, S.G., Roley, S.S., 2015. The influence of twostage ditches with constructed floodplains on water column nutrients and sediments in agricultural streams. J. Am. Water Resour. Assoc. 51, 941–955.
- Deaver, E., Moore, M.T., Cooper, C.M., Knight, S.S., 2005. Efficiency of three aquatic macrophytes in mitigating nutrient run-off. Int. J. Ecol. Environ. Sci. 31, 1–7.
- Dobbs, T., Pretty, J., 2001. Future Direction for Joint Agricultural-Environmental Policies: Implication of the United Kingdom Experience for Europe and the United States. South Dakota State University Economics Research Report 2001–1 and University of Essex Center for Environment and Society Occasional Paper 2001–5. pp. 1–6.
- Dollinger, J., Dagès, C., Bailly, J.S., 2015. Managing ditches for agroecological engineering of landscape: a review. Agron. Sustain. Dev. 35, 999–1020.
- Dollinger, J., Dagès, C., Negro, S., Bailly, J.S., Voltz, M., 2016. Variability of glyphosate and diuron sorption capacities of ditch beds determined using new indicator-based methods. Sci. Total Environ. 573, 716–726.
- Dollinger, J., Vinatier, F., Voltz, M., Dagès, C., Bailly, J.S., 2017. Impact of maintenance operations on the seasonal evolution of ditch properties and functions. Agric. Water Manag. 193, 191–204.
- Dordio, A.V., Carvalho, A.J.P., 2013. Organic xenobiotics removal in constructed wetlands, with emphasis on the importance of the support matrix. J. Hazard. Mater. 252–253, 272–292.
- Dordio, A., Pinto, J., Dias, C.B., Pinto, A.P., Carvalho, A.J.P., Teixeira, D.M., 2009. Atenolol removal in microcosm constructed wetlands. Int. J. Environ. Anal. Chem. 89, 835–848.
- Dordio, A., Carvalho, A.J.P., Teixeira, D.M., Dias, C.B., Pinto, A.P., 2010. Removal of pharmaceuticals in microcosm constructed wetlands using *Typha* spp. and LECA. Bioresour. Technol. 101, 886–892.
- Dordio, A.V., Ferro, R., Teixeira, D., Palace, A.J., Pinto, A.P., Dias, C.M.B., 2011a. Study on the use of *Typha* spp. for the phytotreatment of water contaminated with ibuprofen. Int. J. Environ. Anal. Chem. 91, 654–667.
- Dordio, A.V., Belo, M., Martins, T.D., Palace, C.A.J., Dias, C.M.B., Picó, Y., Pinto, A.P., 2011b. Evaluation of carbamazepine uptake and metabolization by *Typha* spp., a plant with potential use in phytotreatment. Bioresour. Technol. 102, 7827–7834.
- Dragon, K., Kasztelan, D., Gorski, J., Najman, J., 2016. Influence of subsurface drainage systems on nitrate pollution of water supply aquifer (Tursko well-field, Poland). Environ. Earth Sci. 75 (2), 1–17.
- Ecke, F., 2009. Drainage ditching at the catchment scale affects water quality and macrophyte occurrence in Swedish lakes. Freshw. Biol. 54, 119–126.
- Edwards, A.C., Withers, P.J.A., 2008. Transport and delivery of suspended solids, nitrogen and phosphorus from various sources to freshwaters in the UK. J. Hydrol. 350, 144–153.
- Edwards, M., Topp, E., Metcalfe, C.D., Li, H., Gottschall, N., Bolton, P., Curnoe, W., Payne, M., Beck, A., Kleywegt, S., Lapen, D.R., 2009. Pharmaceutical and personal care products in tile drainage following surface spreading and injection of dewatered municipal biosolids to an agricultural field. Sci. Total Environ. 407 (14), 4220–4230.
- Elsaesser, D., Stang, C., Bakanov, N., Schulz, R., 2013. The Landau stream mesocosm facility: pesticide mitigation in vegetated flow-through streams. Bull. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 90, 640–645.
- Ensign, S.H., Mcmillan, S.K., Thompson, S.P., Piehler, M.E., 2006. Nitrogen and phosphorus attenuation within the stream network of a coastal, agricultural watershed. J. Environ. Qual. 35, 1237–1247.
- Eriksson, P.G., Weisner, S.E.B., 1997. Nitrogen removal in a wastewater reservoir: the importance of denitrification by epiphytic biofilms on submersed vegetation. J. Environ. Oual. 26, 905–910.
- Falbo, K., Schneider, R.L., Buckley, D.H., Walter, M.T., Bergholz, P.W., Buchanan, B.P., 2013. Roadside ditches as conduits of fecal indicator organisms and sediment: implications for water quality management. J. Environ. Manag. 128 (20), 1050.
- Fathollahzadeh, H., Fabio, K., Amit, B., William, H., 2015. Significance of environmental dredging on metal mobility from contaminated sediments in the Oskarshamn Harbor, Sweden. Chemosphere 119, 445–451.
- Faust, D.R., Kröger, R., Miranda, L.E., Rush, S.A., 2016. Nitrate removal from agricultural drainage ditch sediments with amendments of organic carbon: potential for an innovative best management practice. Water Air Soil Pollut. 227, 378.
- Faust, D.R., Kröger, R., Moore, M.T., Rush, S.A., 2018. Management practices used in agricultural drainage ditches aimed at reducing Gulf of Mexico hypoxia. Bull. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 100 (1), 32–40.
- Fouss, J.L., Sullivan, M., 2009. Agricultural drainage management systems task force. In: Starrett, S. (Ed.), World Environmental and Water Resources Congress 2009. American Society of Civil Engineers, Virginia, pp. 4068–4077.
- Fu, D.F., Gong, W.J., Xu, Y., Singh, R.P., Surampallib, R.Y., Zhang, T.C., 2014. Nutrient mitigation capacity of agricultural drainage ditches in TaiLake Basin. Ecol. Eng. 71, 101–107.
- Gall, H.E., Sassman, S.A., Jenkinson, B., Lee, L.S., Jafvert, C.T., 2011. Hormone discharges from a Midwest tile-drained agroecosystem receiving animal wastes. Environ. Sci. Technol. 45, 8755–8764.
- Garcinuño, R.M., Fernandez, H.P., Camara, C., 2006. Removal of carbaryl, linuron, and permethrin by *Lupinus angustifolius* under hydroponic conditions. J. Agric. Food Chem. 54, 5034–5039.
- Gill, S.L., Spurlock, F.C., Goh, K.S., Ganapathy, C., 2008. Vegetated ditches as a management practice in irrigated alfalfa. Environ. Monit. Assess. 144, 261–267.
- Greenan, C.M., Moorman, T.B., Kaspar, T.C., Parkin, T.B., Jaynes, D.B., 2006. Comparing carbon substrates for denitrification of subsurface drainage water. J. Environ. Qual. 35, 824–829.

- Gregoire, C., Elsaesser, D., Huguenot, D., Lange, J., Lebeau, T., et al., 2009, Mitigation of agricultural nonpoint-source pesticide pollution in artificial wetland ecosystems – a review. Springer Netherlands 2 (3), 293–338.
- Groffman, P.M., 1994. Denitrification in freshwater wetlands. Curr. Top. Wetl. Biogeochem, 1, 15-35.
- Groffman, P.M., Tiedie, I.M., 1989, Denitrification in north temperate forests: spatial and temporal patterns at the landscape and seasonal scales, Soil Biol, Biochem, 21, 053-059.
- Gucker, B., Pusch, M.T., 2006. Regulation of nutrient uptake in eutrophic lowland streams. Limnol. Oceanogr. 51, 1443-1453.
- He, Y.Q., Wei, J.B., Hu, Y.A., Wu, Z.F., Cheng, J., Liu, P., Liu, X.N., 2012. Non-point source pollution control functions of constructed wetland in the ditches of paddy field system in Pearl River Delta. Chin. J. Ecol. 31, 394-398 (in Chinese).
- Herzon, I., Helenius, J., 2008. Agricultural drainage ditches, their biological importance
- and functioning. Biol. Conserv. 141 (5), 1171–1183. Hoagland, C.R., Gentry, L.E., David, M.B., 2001. Plant nutrient uptake and biomass accumulation in a constructed wetland. J. Freshw. Ecol. 16, 527-540.
- Hodaj, A., Bowling, L.C., Frankenberger, J.R., Chaubey, I., 2017. Impact of a two-stage ditch on channel water quality. Agric. Water Manag. 192, 126-137.
- Hunter, R.G., Combs, D.L., George, D.B., 2001. Nitrogen, phosphorous, and organic carbon removal in simulated wetland treatment systems. Arch. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 41, 274-281
- Ingersoll, T.L., Baker, L.A., 1998, Nitrate removal in wetland microcosms, Water Res, 32 (3), 677-684
- Inwood, S.E., Tank, J.L., Bernot, M.J., 2007. Factors controlling sediment denitrification in Midwestern streams of varying land use. Microb. Ecol. 53, 247-258.
- Iseyemi, O.O., Farris, J.L., Moore, M.T., Choi, S.E., 2016. Nutrient mitigation efficiency in agricultural drainage ditches: an influence of landscape management. Bull. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 96, 750-756
- Jin, S., Bluemling, B., Mol, A.P.J., 2018. Mitigating land pollution through pesticide packages - the case of a collection scheme in rural China. Sci. Total Environ. https://doi. org/10.1016/jscitotenv.2017.11.330.
- Jinadasa, K.B., Tanaka, N., Sasikala, S., Werellagama, D.R., Mowjood, M.I., Ng, W.J., 2008. Impact of harvesting on constructed wetlands performance - a comparison between Scirpus grossus and Typha angustifolia. J. Environ. Sci. Health A 43, 664-671.
- Kadlec, R.H., Knight, R.L., 1996. Treatment Wetlands. CRC Press, Boca Raton.
- Kadlec, R.H., Wallace, S.D., 2009. Treatment Wetlands. 2nd edn. CRC Press, Boca Raton, LISA
- Kangas, W., Mulbry, P., 2014. Nutrient removal from agricultural drainage water using algal turf scrubbers and solar power. Bioresour. Technol. 152, 484-489. Kim, S.Y., Geary, P.M., 2001. The impact of biomass harvesting on phosphorus uptake by
- wetland plants. Water Sci. Technol. 44, 61-67. Kladivko, E.J., Grochulska, J., Turco, R.F., Van Scoyoc, G.E., Eigel, J.D., 1999. Pesticide and ni-
- trate transport into subsurface tile drains of different spacings. J. Environ. Qual. 28 (3), 997–1004.
- de Klein, J., 2008. From Ditch to Delta: Nutrient Retention in Running Waters. (Dissertation). Wageningen University.
- Kreiling, R.M., Richardson, W.B., Cavanaugh, J.C., Bartsch, L.A., 2011. Summer nitrate uptake and denitrification in an upper Mississippi River backwater lake: the role of rooted aquatic vegetation. Biogeochemistry 104 (1-3), 309-324.
- Kröger, R., Moore, M.T., 2011. Phosphorus dynamics within agricultural drainage ditches in the lower Mississippi Alluvial Valley. Ecol. Eng. 37, 1905–1909.
- Kröger, R., Holland, M.M., Moore, M.T., Cooper, C.M., 2007a. Hydrological variability and agricultural drainage ditch inorganic nitrogen reduction capacity. J. Environ. Qual. 36. 1646-1652
- Kröger, R., Holland, M.M., Moore, M.T., Cooper, C.M., 2007b. Plant senescence: a mechanism for nutrient release in temperate agricultural wetlands. Environ. Pollut. 146, 114-119
- Kröger, R., Holland, M.M., Moore, M.T., Cooper, C.M., 2008a. Agricultural drainage ditches mitigate phosphorus loads as a function of hydrological variability. J. Environ. Qual. 37. 107-113.
- Kröger, R., Cooper, C.M., Moore, M.T., 2008b. A preliminary study of an alternative controlled drainage strategy in surface drainage ditches: low-grade weirs. Agric. Water Manag. 95, 678-684.
- Kröger, R., Moore, M.T., Locke, M.A., Cullum, R.F., Steinriede Jr., R.W., Testa III, S., Bryant, C.T., Cooper, C.M., 2009. Evaluating the influence of wetland vegetation on chemical residence time in Mississippi Delta drainage ditches. Agric. Water Manag. 96, 1175-1179.
- Kröger, R., Moore, M.T., Farris, J.L., Gopalan, M., 2011. Evidence for the use of low-grade weirs in drainage ditches to improve nutrient reductions from agriculture. Water Air Soil Pollut. 221, 223-234.
- Kröger, R., Pierce, S.C., Littlejohn, K.A., Moore, M.T., Farris, J.L., 2012. Decreasing nitrate-N loads to coastal ecosystems with innovative drainage management strategies in agricultural landscapes: an experimental approach. Agric. Water Manag. 103, 162-166.
- Kröger, R., Usborne, E.L., Pierce, S.C., 2013. Sediment and phosphorus accumulation dynamics behind newly installed low-grade weirs in agricultural drainage ditches. J. Environ. Qual. 42 (5), 1480-1485.
- Kröger, R., Scott, J.T., Czarnecki-Prince, J.M., 2014. Denitrification potential of low-grade weirs and agricultural drainage ditch sediments in the Lower Mississippi Alluvial Valley. Ecol. Eng. 73, 168-175.
- Kuehn, K.A., Suberkropp, K., 1998. Decomposition of standing leaf litter of the freshwater emergent macrophyte Juncus effusus. Freshw. Biol. 40, 217-227.
- Kumwimba, N.M., 2017. Plant Species in Drainage Ditches and Their Roles in Reducing Non-point Source Pollutants and Heavy Metals in the Central Sichuan Basin, China. (PhD Dissertation). University of Chinese Academy of Sciences.
- Kumwimba, M.N., Zhu, B., 2017. Effectiveness of vegetated drainage ditches for domestic sewage effluent mitigation. Bull. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 98, 682-689.

- Kumwimba, M.N., Zhu, B., Wang, T., Muvembe, D.K., 2016a, Distribution and risk assessment of metals and arsenic contamination in man-made ditch sediments with different land use types. Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. 23, 24808-24823.
- Kumwimba, M.N., Zhu, B., Wang, T., Yuan, Z., Muyembe, D.K., 2016b. Metal distribution and contamination assessment in drainage ditch water in the main rice/vegetable area of Sichuan Hilly Basin, Bull, Environ, Contam, Toxicol, 96, 248–253.
- Kumwimba, M.N., Dzakpasu, M., Zhu, B., Muyembe, D.K., 2016c. Uptake and release of sequestered nutrient in subtropical monsoon ecological ditch plant species. Water Air Soil Pollut 227 (11) 405
- Kumwimba, M.N., Dong, Z., Zhu, B., Tang, J., Wang, T., 2017a. Assessing nutrient, biomass and sediment transport of drainage ditches in the Three Gorges Reservoir area. CLEAN - Soil Air Water 45 (1863-0669).
- Kumwimba, M.N., Zhu, B., Muyembe, D.K., 2017b. Assessing the influence of different plant species in drainage ditches on mitigation of non-point source pollutants (N, P and sediments) in the Purple Sichuan Basin. Environ. Monit. Assess. 189 (6), 267.
- Kumwimba, M.N., Dzakpasu, M., Zhu, B., Muyembe, D.K., 2017c. Nutrient removal in a trapezoidal vegetated drainage ditch used to treat primary domestic sewage in a small catchment of the upper Yangtze River. Water Environ. J. 31, 72-79.
- Kumwimba, M.N., Zhu, B., Muyembe, D.K., 2017d. Estimation of the removal efficiency of heavy metals/metalloids and nutrients from ecological drainage ditches treating town sewage during dry and wet seasons. Environ. Monit. Assess. 189, 434
- Kumwimba, M.N., Zhu, B., Suanon, F., Muyembe, D.K., Dzakpasu, M., 2017e. Long-term impact of primary domestic sewage on metal/loid accumulation in drainage ditch sediments, plants and water: Implications for phytoremediation and restoration. Sci. Total Environ. 581-582, 773-781.
- Kumwimba, M.N., Zhu, B., Muyembe, D.K., Dzakpasu, M., 2017f. Growth characteristics and nutrient removal capability of eco-ditch plants in mesocosm sediment receiving primary domestic wastewater. Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. 24 (30), 23926-23938.
- Lagacherie, P., Diot, O., Domange, N., Gouy, V., Floure, C., Kao, C., Moussa, R., Robbez-Masson, J.M., Szleper, V., 2006. An indicator approach for describing the spatial variability of artificial stream networks with regard to herbicide pollution in cultivated watersheds. Ecol. Indic. 6, 265-279.
- Lai, W.L., Wang, S.Q., Peng, C.L., Chen, Z.H., 2011. Root features related to plant growth and nutrient removal of 35 wetland plants. Water Res. 45, 3941-3950.
- Leistra, M., Zweers, A.J., Warinton, J.S., Crum, S.J.H., Beltman, W.H.J., Maund, S.J., 2004. Fate of the insecticide lambda-cyhalothrin in ditch enclosures differing in vegetation density. Pestic. Manag. Sci. 60, 75-84.
- Lesage, E., Rousseau, D.L., Meers, E., Tack, F.M.G., De Pauw, N., 2007a. Accumulation of metals in a horizontal subsurface flow constructed wetland treating domestic wastewater in Flanders, Belgium. Sci. Total Environ. 380, 102-115.
- Lesage, E., Rousseau, D.P.L., Meers, E., Van de Moortel, A.M.K., Du Laing, G., Tack, F.M.G., De Pauw, N., Verloo, M.G., 2007b. Accumulation of metals in the sediment and reed biomass of a combined constructed wetland treating domestic wastewater. Water Air Soil Pollut. 183, 253-264.
- Levavasseur, F., Biarnès, A., Bailly, J.S., Lagacherie, P., 2014. Time-varying impacts of different management regimes on vegetation cover in agricultural ditches. Agric. Water Manag, 140, 14-19.
- Li, S., Wang, X., Tu, J., Qiao, B., Li, J., 2016. Nitrogen removal in an ecological ditch based on an orthogonal test. Water Air Soil Pollut. 227, 396.
- Li, Q., Li, Y., Zhu, L., Xing, B., Chen, B., 2017. Dependence of plant uptake and diffusion of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons on the leaf surface morphology and microstructures of cuticular waxes. Sci. Rep. 7, 46235.
- Licursi, M., Gomez, N., 2009. Effects of dredging on benthic diatom assemblages in a lowland stream. J. Environ. Manag. 90, 973-982.
- Lin, Y.F., Jing, S.R., Wang, T.W., Lee, D.Y., 2002. Effects of macrophytes and external carbon sources on nitrate removal from groundwater in constructed wetlands. Environ. Pollut. 119 (3), 413-420.
- Littlejohn, K.A., Poganski, B., Kröger, R., Ramirez-Avila, J., 2014. Effectiveness of low-grade weirs for nutrient removal in an agricultural landscape in the Lower Mississippi Alluvial Valley. Agric. Water Manag. 131, 79–86.
- Liu, L., Hu, H., Qi, J., 2012. Research on the influencing factors of hydraulic efficiency in ditch wetlands. Procedia Eng. 2012 International Conference on Modern Hydraulic Engineering. 28, pp. 759-762
- Liu, F., Xiao, R., Wang, Y., Li, Y., Zhang, S., 2013. Effect of a novel constructed drainage ditch on the phosphorus sorption capacity of ditch soils in an agricultural headwater catchment in subtropical central China. Ecol. Eng. 58, 69-76.
- Liu, F., Wang, Y., Xiao, R., Wu, J., Li, Y., Zhang, S., Wang, D., Li, H., Chen, L., 2015. Influence of substrates on nutrient removal performance of organic channel barriers in drainage ditches. J. Hydrol. 527, 380-386.
- Liu, F., Zhang, S., Wang, Y., Li, Y., Xiao, R., Li, H., He, Y., Zhang, M., Wang, D., Li, X., Wu, J., 2016. Nitrogen removal and mass balance in newly-formed Myriophyllum aquaticum mesocosm during a single 28-day incubation with swine wastewater treatment. J. Environ. Manag. 166, 596-604.
- Locke, M.A., Weaver, M.A., Zablotowicz, R.M., Steinriede, R.W., Bryson, C.T., Cullum, R.F., 2011. Constructed wetlands as a component of the agricultural landscape: mitigation of herbicides in simulated runoff from upland drainage areas. Chemosphere 83, 1532-1538.
- Lu, B., Xu, Z., Li, J., Chai, X., 2018. Removal of water nutrients by different aquatic plant species: an alternative way to remediate polluted rural rivers. Ecol. Eng. 110, 18-26.
- Luo, W.G., Wang, S.H., Huang, J., 2005. Denitrification by using subsurface constructed wetland in low temperature. China Water Wastewater 21, 37-40 (in Chinese)
- Luo, P., Liu, F., Liu, X., Wu, X., Yao, R., Chen, L., Li, X., Xiao, R., Wu, J., 2017. Phosphorus removal from lagoon-pretreated swine wastewater by pilot-scale surface flow constructed wetlands planted with Myriophyllum aquaticum. Sci. Total Environ. 576, 490-497.

Madramootoo, C.A., Johnson, W.R., Ayars, J.E., Evans, R.O., Fausey, N.R., 2007. Agricultural drainage management, quality and disposal issues in North America. Irrig. Drain. 56, 35–45.

Margoum, C., Malessard, C., Gouy, V., 2006. Investigation of various physicochemical and environmental parameter influence on pesticide sorption to ditch bed substratum by means of experimental design. Chemosphere 63, 1835–1841.

- Meuleman, A.F.M., Beltman, B., 1993. The use of vegetated ditches for water quality improvement. Hydrobiologia 253, 375.
- Min, J., Shi, W., 2018. Nitrogen discharge pathways in vegetable production as non-point sources of pollution and measures to control it. Sci. Total Environ. 613–614, 123–130.
- Moeder, M., Carranza-Diaz, O., López-Angulo, G., Vega-Aviña, R., Chávez-Durán, F.A., Jomaa, S., Winkler, U., Schrader, S., Reemtsma, T., Delgado-Vargas, F., 2017. Potential of vegetated ditches to manage organic pollutants derived from agricultural runoff and domestic sewage: a case study in Sinaloa (Mexico). Sci. Total Environ. 598, 1106–1115. Moore, M.T., Kröger, R., 2010a. Evaluating plant species-specific contributions to nutrient
- mitigation in drainage ditch mesocosms. Water Air Soil Pollut. 217, 445–454. Moore, M.T., Kröger, R., 2010b. Effect of three insecticides and two herbicides on rice
- (*Oryza sativa*) seedling germination and growth. Arch. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 59 (4), 574–581.
- Moore, M.T., Rodgers, J.H., Cooper, C.M., Smith Jr., S., 2000. Constructed wetlands for mitigation of atrazine-associated agricultural runoff. Environ. Pollut. 110, 393–399.
- Moore, M.T., Bennett, E.R., Cooper, C.M., Smith Jr., S., Shields Jr., F.D., Milam, C.D., Farris, J.L., 2001a. Transport and fate of atrazine and lambda-cyhalothrin in an agricultural drainage ditch in the Mississippi Delta, USA. Agric. Ecosyst. Environ. 87, 309–314.
- Moore, M.T., Rodgers Jr., J.H., Smith Jr, S., Cooper, C.M., 2001b. Mitigation of metolachlorassociated agricultural runoff using constructed wetlands in Mississippi, USA. Agric. Ecosyst. Environ. 84, 169–176.
- Moore, M.T., Schulz, R., Cooper, C.M., Smith Jr., S., Rodgers Jr., J.H., 2002. Mitigation of chlorpyrifos runoff using constructed wetlands. Chemosphere 46, 827–835.
- Moore, M.T., Cooper, C.M., Farris, J.L., 2005. Drainage ditches. In: Lehr, J., Keeley, J., Lehr, J., Kingery, T.B. (Eds.), Water Encyclopedia. John Wiley and Sons, Inc., Hoboken, NJ, pp. 235–242.
- Moore, M.T., Bennett, E.R., Cooper, C.M., Smith Jr., S., Farris, J.L., Drouillard, K.G., Schulz, R., 2006. Influence of vegetation in mitigation of methyl parathion runoff. Environ. Pollut. 142, 288–294.
- Moore, M.T., Denton, D.L., Cooper, C.M., Wrysinski, J., Miller, J.L., Reece, K., Crane, D., Robins, P., 2008. Mitigation assessment of vegetated drainage ditches for collecting irrigation runoff in California. J. Environ. Qual. 37, 486–493.
- Moore, M.T., Kröger, R., Locke, M.A., Cullum, R.F., Steinriede Jr., R.W., Testa III, S., Lizotte, R.E.Jr., Bryant, C.T., Cooper, C.M., 2010. Nutrient mitigation capacity in Mississippi Delta, USA drainage ditches. Environ. Pollut. 158, 175–184.
- Moore, M.T., Denton, D.L., Cooper, C.M., Wrysinski, J., Miller, J.L., Werner, I., Horner, G., Crane, D., Holcomb, D.B., Huddleston, G.M., 2011. Use of vegetated agricultural drainage ditches to decrease pesticide transport from tomato and alfalfa fields in California, USA. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 30, 1044–1049.
- Moore, M.T., Kröger, R., Locke, M.A., 2013. Seasonal and interspecific nutrient mitigation comparisons of three emergent aquatic macrophytes. Bioremediation J. 17, 148–158.
- Moore, M., Locke, M.A., Jenkins, M., Steinriede, R.W., McChesney, D.S., 2017. Dredging effects on selected nutrient concentrations and ecoenzymatic activity in two drainage ditch sediments in the lower Mississippi River Valley. Int. Soil Water Conserv. Res. 5 (3), 190–195.
- Mulbry, W., Kondrad, S., Buyer, J., 2008. Treatment of dairy and swine manure effluents using freshwater algae: fatty acid content and composition of algal biomass at different manure loading rates. J. Appl. Phycol. 20 (6), 1079–1085.
- Nahlik, A.M., Mitsch, W.J., 2006. Tropical treatment wetlands dominated by free-floating macrophytes for water quality improvement in Costa Rica. Ecol. Eng. 28, 246–257.
- Needelman, B.A., Kleinman, P.J.A., Strock, J.S., Allen, A.L., 2007. Improved management of agricultural drainage ditches for water quality protection: an overview. J. Soil Water Conserv. 62, 171–178.
- Ng, W.J., Gunaratne, G., 2011. Design of tropical constructed wetlands. In: Tanaka, N., Ng, W.J., Jinadasa, K.B.S.N. (Eds.), Wetlands for Tropical Application. Imperial College Press, pp. 69–94.
- Nguyen, L, Sukias, J., 2002. Phosphorus fractions and retention in drainage ditch sediments receiving surface runoff and subsurface drainage from agricultural catchments in the North Island, New Zealand. Agric. Ecosyst. Environ. 92, 49–69.
- Nivala, J., Hoos, M., Cross, C., Wallace, S., Parkin, C., 2007. Treatment of landfill leachate using an aerated, horizontal subsurface-flow constructed wetland. Sci. Total Environ. 380, 19–27.
- NRC, 2000. Nutrient Requirements of Poultry. 9th rev. ed. Natl. Acad. Press, Washington, DC. Ongley, E.D., Zhang, X., Tao, Y., 2010. Current status of agricultural and rural non-point source pollution assessment in China. Environ. Pollut. 158, 1159–1168.
- Otto, S., Pappalardo, S.E., Cardinali, A., Masin, R., Zanin, G., Borin, M., 2016. Vegetated ditches for the mitigation of pesticides runoff in the Po Valley. PLoS One 11 (4), e0153287. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal. pone.0153287.
- Palermo, M.R., Schroeder, P.R., Estes, T.J., Francingues, N.R., 2008. Technical Guidelines for Environmental Dredging of Contaminated Sediments. Environmental Laboratory US Army Engineer Research and Development Center, Vicksburg, MS, p. 304.
- Pierobon, E., Castaldelli, G., Mantovani, S., Vincenzi, F., Anna Fano, E., 2013. Nitrogen removal in vegetated and unvegetated drainage ditches impacted by diffuse and point sources of pollution. Clean Soil Air Water 41, 24–31.
- Powell, K.L., Bouchard, V., 2010. Is denitrification enhanced by the development of natural fluvial morphology in agricultural headwater ditches? J. N. Am. Benthol. Soc. 29, 761–772.
- Prat, N., Toja, J., Solà, C., Burgos, M.D., Plans, M., Rieradevall, M., 1999. Effect of dumping and cleaning activities on the aquatic ecosystems of the Guadiamar River following a toxic flood. Sci. Total Environ. 242, 231–248.

- Qiu, J., 2011. China vows to clean up rural environment. Nature https://doi.org/10.1038/ news.2011.200.
- Randall, G., Vetsch, J., 2005. Nitrate losses in subsurface drainage from a corn-soybean rotation as affected by fall and spring application of nitrogen and nitrapyrin. J. Environ. Qual. 34, 590–597.
- Rattan, R.K., Datta, S.P., Chandra, S., Saharan, N., 2002. Heavy metals and environmental quality: Indian scenario. Fertil. News 47, 21–40.
- Reddy, K.R., Busk, W.F.D., 1985. Nutrient removal potential of selected aquatic macrophytes. J. Environ. Qual. 14 (4), 459–462.
- Reddy, K.R., Kadlec, R.H., Flaig, E., et al., 1999. Phosphorus retention in streams and wetlands: a review. Crit. Rev. Environ. Sci. Tecnol. 29, 83–146.
- Ren, Y., Liu, Y., Sun, J., Lu, H., Yang, L., 2016. Lolium perenne as the cultivation plant in hydroponic ditch and constructed wetland to improve wastewater treatment efficiency in a cold region. Wetlands 36, 659.
- Revitt, D.M., Shutes, R.B., Jones, R.H., Forshaw, M., Winter, B., 2004. The performances of vegetative treatment systems for highway runoff during dry and wet conditions. Sci. Total Environ. 335, 261–270.
- Rhoads, B.L., Massey, K.D., 2012. Flow structure and channel change in a sinous grasslined stream within an agricultural drainage ditch: implications for ditch stability and aquatic habitat. River Res. Appl. 28, 39–52.
- Ribaudo, M.O., Heimlich, R., Claassen, R., Peters, M., 2001. Least-cost management of nonpoint source pollution: source reduction versus interception strategies for controlling nitrogen loss in the Mississippi Basin. Ecol. Econ. 37 (2), 183–197.
- Rogers, M.R., Stringfellow, W.T., 2009. Partitioning of chlorpyrifos to soil and plants in vegetated agricultural drainage ditches. Chemosphere 75, 109–114.
- Roley, S., Tank, J., Stephen, M., Johnson, L., Beaulieu, J., Witter, J., 2012. Floodplain restoration enhances denitrification and reach-scale nitrogen removal in an agricultural stream. Ecol. Appl. 22, 281–297.
- Sakadevan, K., Bavor, H.J., 1998. Phosphate adsorption characteristics of soils, slags and zeolite to be used as substrates in constructed wetland system. Water Res. 32, 393–399.
- Saunders, L.V., 2007. Treatment Potential of Wastewater Drainage Ditches in a Rural Community of the Andean Amazon. (PhD Dissertation). University of Florida.
- Schijven, J.F., Blaak, H., Schets, F.M., Husman, A.M.D.R., 2015. Fate of extended-spectrum β-lactamase-producing *E. coli* from faecal sources in surface water and probability of human exposure through swimming. Environ. Sci. Technol. 49 (19), 11825–11833.
- Scholz, M., Lee, B.H., 2005. Constructed wetlands: a review. Int. J. Environ. Stud. 62 (4), 421–447.
- Scholz, M., Trepel, M., 2004. Water quality characteristics of vegetated groundwater-fed ditches in a riparian peatland. Sci. Total Environ. 332, 109–122.
- Schulz, R., Moore, M.T., Bennett, E.R., Farris, J.L., Smith, S., Cooper, C.M., 2003. Methyl parathion toxicity in vegetated and non-vegetated wetland mesocosms. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 22, 1262–1268.
- Seitzinger, S.P., 1988. Denitrification in fresh-water and coastal marine ecosystems ecological and geochemical significance. Limnol. Oceanogr. 33, 702–724.
- Seitzinger, S., Harrison, J.A., Bohlke, J.K., Bouwman, A.F., Lowrance, R., Peterson, B., Tobias, C., Van Drecht, G., 2006. Denitrification across landscapes and waterscapes: a synthesis. Ecol. Appl. 16, 2064–2090.
- Sharpley, A.N., Krogstad, T., Kleinman, P.J.A., Haggard, B., Shigaki, F., Saporito, L.S., 2007. Managing natural processes in drainage ditches for nonpoint source phosphorus control. J. Soil Water Conserv. 62 (4), 197–206.
- She, D., Zhang, L., Gao, X., Yan, X., Zhao, X., 2017. Limited N removal by denitrification in agricultural drainage ditches in the Taihu Lake region of China. J. Soils Sediments https://doi.org/10.1007/s11368-017-1844-8.
- Shen, L.D., Zheng, P.H., Ma, S.J., 2016. Nitrogen loss through anaerobic ammonium oxidation in agricultural drainage ditches. Biol. Fertil. Soils 52 (2), 127–136.
- Shigaki, F., Kleinman, P.J.A., Schmidt, J.P., Sharpley, A.N., Allen, A.L., 2008. Impact of dredging on phosphorus transport in agricultural drainage ditches of the Atlantic Coastal Plain. J. Am. Water Resour. Assoc. 44 (6), 1500–1511.
- Shin, J.Y., Park, S.K., An, K.G., 2004. Removal of nitrogen and phosphorus using dominant riparian plants in a hydroponic culture system. J. Environ. Sci. Health, Part A 39, 821–834.
- Shukla, S., Goswami, D., Graham, W.D., Hodges, A.W., Christman, M.C., Knowles, J.M., 2011. Water quality effectiveness of ditch fencing and culvert crossing in the Lake Okeechobee basin southern Florida, USA. Ecol. Eng. 37, 1158–1163.
- Silvan, N., Vasander, H., Laine, J., 2004. Vegetation is the main factor in nutrient retention in a constructed wetland buffer. Plant Soil 258, 179–187.
- Simon, S.M., 2003. Phosphorus Retention and Release of Soils in a Constructed Wetland for Wastewater Treatment. (Masters Thesis). University of Florida.
- Skaggs, R.W., Schilfgaarde, J.V., 1999. Agricultural Drainage. Illustrated edition. American Society of Agronomy, Crop Science Society of America, Soil Science Society of America, Madison, Wisconsin.
- Smith, D., Huang, C., 2010. Assessing nutrient transport following dredging of agricultural drainage ditches. Trans. ASABE 53, 429–436.
- Smith, D.R., Pappas, E.A., 2007. Effect of ditch dredging on the fate of nutrients in deep drainage ditches of the Midwestern United States. J. Soil Water Conserv. 62 (4), 252–261.
- Smith, D.R., Warnemuende, E.A., Haggard, B.E., Huang, C., 2006. Dredging of drainage ditches increases short-term transport of soluble phosphorus. J. Environ. Qual. 35, 611–616.
- Soana, E., Balestrini, R., Vincenzi, F., Bartoli, M., Castaldelli, G., 2017. Mitigation of nitrogen pollution in vegetated ditches fed by nitrate-rich spring waters. Agric. Ecosyst. Environ. 243, 74–82.
- Stehle, S., Elsaesser, D., Gregoire, C., Imfeld, G., Niehaus, E., Passeport, E., Payraudeau, S., Schfer, R.B., Tournebize, J., Schulz, R., 2011. Pesticide risk mitigation by vegetated treatment systems: a meta-analysis. J. Environ. Qual. 40, 1068–1080.

- Stottmeister, U., Wießner, A., Kuschk, P., Kappelmeyer, U., Kästner, M., Bederski, O., Müller, R.A., Moormann, H., 2003. Effects of plants and microorganisms in constructed wetlands for wastewater treatment. Biotechnol. Adv. 22, 93–117.
- Strock, J.S., Dell, C.J., Schmidt, J.P., 2007. Managing natural processes in drainage ditches for nonpoint source nitrogen control. J. Soil Water Conserv. 62, 188–196.
- Taylor, J.M., Moore, M.T., Scott, J.T., 2015. Contrasting nutrient mitigation and denitrification potential of agricultural drainage environments with different emergent aquatic macrophytes. J. Environ. Qual. 44, 1304–1314.
- Thamdrup, B., Dalsgaard, T., 2002. Production of N₂ through anaerobic ammonium oxidation coupled to nitrate reduction in marine sediments. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 68, 1312–1318.
- Toet, S., Logtestijn, R.S.P.V., Kampf, R., Schreijer, M., Verhoeven, J.T.A., 2005. The effect of hydraulic retention time on the removal of pollutants from sewage treatment plant effluent in a surface-flow wetland system. Wetlands 25, 375–391.
- Tomer, M.D., Meek, D.W., Jaynes, D.B., Hatfield, J.L., 2003. Evaluation of nitrate nitrogen fluxes from a tile-drained watershed in Central Iowa. J. Environ. Qual. 32 (2), 642–653.
- Tran, N.H., Gin, K.Y., Ngo, H.H., 2015. Fecal pollution source tracking toolbox for identification, evaluation and characterization of fecal contamination in receiving urban surface waters and groundwater. Sci. Total Environ. 538, 38–57.
- Twisk, W., Noordervliet, M.W., Keurs, W.J., 2003. The nature value of the ditch vegetation in peat areas in relation to farm management. Aquat. Ecol. 37, 191–209.
- Tyler, H.L., Moore, M.T., Locke, M.A., 2012. Influence of three aquatic macrophytes on mitigation of nitrogen species from agricultural runoff. Water Air Soil Pollut. 223, 3227–3236.
- Ullah, S., Faulkner, S.P., 2006. Denitrification potential of different land-use types in an agricultural watershed, lower Mississippi valley. Ecol. Eng. 28, 131–140.
- Usborne, E.L., Kröger, R., Pierce, S.C., Brandt, J., Goetz, D., 2013. Preliminary evidence of sediment and phosphorus dynamics behind newly installed low-grade weirs in agricultural drainage ditches. Water Air Soil Pollut. 224, 1–11.
- USEPA, 2003. National Management Measures for the Control of Non-point Pollution from Agriculture. EPA-841-B-03–004. US Environmental Protection Agency, Office of Water, Washington, DC, pp. 2–8.
- Vallée, R., Dousset, S., Billet, D., Benoit, M., 2014. Sorption of selected pesticides on soils, sediment and straw from a constructed agricultural drainage ditch or pond. Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. 21, 4895–4905.
- Vaughan, R.E., Needelman, B.A., Kleinman, P.J.A., Rabenhorst, M.C., 2008. Morphology and characterization of ditch soils at an Atlantic Coastal Plain farm. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 72, 660–669.
- Vazquez-Cruz, M.A., Guzman-Cruz, R., Lopez-Cruz, I.L., Cornejo-Perez, O., Torres-Pacheco, I., Guevara-Gonzalez, R.G., 2014. Global sensitivity analysis by means of EFAST and 'Sobol' methods and calibration of reduced state-variable TOMGRO model using genetic algorithms. Comput. Electron. Agric. 100, 1–12.
- Veraart, A.J., de Klein, J.J.M., Scheffer, M., 2011. Warming can boost denitrification disproportionately due to altered oxygen dynamics. PLoS One 6 (3), e18508.
- Veraart, A.J., Dimitrov, M.R., Schrier-Uijl, A.P., Smidt, H., Klein, J.J.M.D., 2017. Abundance, activity and community structure of denitrifiers in drainage ditches in relation to sediment characteristics, vegetation and land-use. Ecosystems 20, 928–943.
- Vymazal, J., 2003. Distribution of iron, cadmium, nickel and lead in a constructed wetland receiving municipal sewage. In: Vymazal, J. (Ed.), Wetlands—Nutrients, Metals and Mass Cycling. Backhuys Publishers, Leiden, pp. 341–363.
- Vymazal, J., 2005. Horizontal sub-surface flow and hybrid constructed wetlands systems for wastewater treatment. Ecol. Eng. 25 (5), 478–490.
- Vymazal, J., 2007. Removal of nutrients in various types of constructed wetlands. Sci. Total Environ. 380, 48–65.
- Vymazal, J., Březinová, T.D., 2018. Removal of nutrients, organics and suspended solids in vegetated agricultural drainage ditch. Ecol. Eng. 118, 97–103.
- Vymazal, J., Jaroslav, S., Lenka, K., Jana, N., Vladimíř, S., 2010. Heavy metals in sediments from constructed wetlands treating municipal wastewater. Biogeochemistry 101, 335–356.
- Wang, Y., Wang, J.G., Li, W., Bo, LJ., Yang, L.Z., 2010. Initial exploration of mechanism of ecological ditch intercepting nitrogen and phosphorus in drainage from farmland. J. Ecol. Rural Environ. 26, 586–590 (in Chinese).
- Wang, T., Kumwimba, M., Zhu, B., Wang, X., Tang, J., 2017a. Nutrient distribution and risk assessment in drainage ditches with different surrounding land uses. Nutr. Cycl. Agroecosyst. 107 (3), 381–394.
- Wang, X., Li, J., Li, S., Zheng, X., 2017b. A study on removing nitrogen from paddy field rainfall runoff by an ecological ditch-zeolite barrier system. Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. 24 (35), 27090–27103.

- Wasserman, J.C., Barros, S.R., Lima, G.B.A., 2013. Planning dredging services in contaminated sediments for balanced environmental and investment costs. Environ. Manag. 121, 48–56.
- Wen, L, Recknagel, F., 2006. Balancing phosphorus adsorption and consumption processes in experimental treatment ponds for agricultural drainage water. Ecol. Eng. 28, 14–24.
- Wilhelmsson, A., Fly, A.A., 2012. Potential binder component for stabilization and solidification of dredged material. Proceeding of 8th Eco-Tech Conference. Kalmar, Sweden, November 26–28.
- Wu, Y., Yang, L., 2012. A prospectus for bio-organic fertilizer based on microorganisms: recent and future research in agricultural ecosystem. In: Singh, R.P. (Ed.), Organic Fertilizers: Types, Production and Environmental Impact. Nova Science Publisher, New York.
- Wu, Y., Hu, Z., Yang, L., 2011. Strategies for controlling agricultural non-point source pollution: reduce-retain-restoration (3R) theory and its practice. T CSAE 27 (5), 1–6.
- Wu, M., Tang, X., Li, Q., Yang, W., Jin, F., Tang, M., Scholz, M., 2013. Review of ecological engineering solutions for rural non-point source water pollution control in Hubei Province, China. Water Air Soil Pollut. 224 (5), 1561.
- Wu, X., Wu, H., Ye, J., 2014. Purification effects of two eco-ditch systems on Chinese softshelled turtle greenhouse culture wastewater pollution. Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. 21 (8), 5610–5618.
- Wu, Y., Liu, J., Shen, R., Fu, B., 2017. Mitigation of nonpoint source pollution in rural areas: from control to synergies of multi ecosystem services. Sci. Total Environ. 607–608, 1376–1380.
- Xiong, Y., Peng, S., Luo, Y., et al., 2015. A paddy eco-ditch and wetland system to reduce non-point source pollution from rice-based production system while maintaining water use efficiency. Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. 22, 4406.
- Yin, C.Q., Lan, Z.W., Yan, W.J., 1995. Retention of allochthonous nutrients by ecotones of Baiyangdian Lake. Chin. J. Appl. Ecol. 6 (1), 76–80 (in Chinese).
- Yin, X.F., Hu, Z.Y., Zhou, L.X., Wu, Y.H., et al., 2008. Study on the construction of the ecological agroditch and its effect on purification sewage on the northern lakeshore of Dianchi Lake, J. Anhui Agric. Sci. 36, 9676–9679 (in Chinese).
- Zhai, X., Piwpuan, N., Arias, C.A., Headley, T., Brix, H., 2013. Can root exudates from emergent wetland plants fuel denitrification in subsurface flow constructed wetland systems. Ecol. Eng. 61, 555–563.
- Zhang, L., 2010. Introduction of the First National Pollution Census Bulletin No. 2010-2-9. Ministry of Environmental Protection, Beijing (in Chinese).
- Zhang, Z.H., Rengel, Z., Meney, K., 2008. Interactive effects of N and P on growth but not on resource allocation of *Canna indica* in wetland microcosms. Aquat. Bot. 89 (3), 317–323.
- Zhang, D.Q., Hua, T., Gersberg, R.M., Zhu, J., Ng, W.J., Tan, S.K., 2012. Fate of diclofenac in wetland mesocosms planted with *Scirpus validus*. Ecol. Eng. 49, 59–64.
- Zhang, D.Q., Hua, T., Gersberg, R.M., Zhu, J., Ng, W.J., Tan, S.K., 2013a. Fate of caffeine in mesocosms wetland planted with *Scirpus validus*. Chemosphere 90, 1568–1572.
- Zhang, J., Chang, V.W.C., Giannis, A., Wang, J.Y., 2013b. Removal of cytostatic drugs from aquatic environment: a review. Sci. Total Environ. 445–446, 281–298.
- Zhang, F.S., Xie, Y.F., Li, X.W., Wang, D.Y., Yang, L.S., Nie, Z.Q., 2015. Accumulation of steroid hormones in soil and its adjacent aquatic environment from a typical intensive vegetable cultivation of North China. Sci. Total Environ. 538, 423–430.
- Zhang, S., Liu, F., Xiao, R., Li, Y., He, Y., 2016a. Effects of vegetation on ammonium removal and nitrous oxide emissions from pilot-scale drainage ditches. Aquat. Bot. 130, 37–44.
- Zhang, S., Xiao, R., Liu, F., Zhou, J., Li, H., Wu, J., 2016b. Effect of vegetation on nitrogen removal and ammonia volatilization from wetland microcosms. Ecol. Eng. 97, 363–369.
- Zhang, M., Luo, P., Liu, F., Li, H., Zhang, S., Xiao, R., Yin, L., Zhou, J., Wu, J., 2017. Nitrogen removal and distribution of ammonia-oxidizing and denitrifying genes in an integrated constructed wetland for swine wastewater treatment. Ecol. Eng. 104, 30–38.
- Zhao, F., Xi, S., Yang, X., Yang, W., Li, J., Gu, B., He, Z., 2012. Purifying eutrophic river waters with integrated floating island systems. Ecol. Eng. 40, 53–60.
- Zhao, S., Cui, Y., Luo, Y., Li, P., 2017. Experimental study on wetland hydraulic characteristics of vegetated drainage ditches. Water 9 (5), 311.
- Zheng, Y., Wang, X.J., 2002. Advances and prospects for non-point source studies. Adv. Water Sci. 13 (1), 105–110 (in Chinese).
- Zhu, B., Wang, Z.H., Zhang, X.B., 2012. Phosphorus fractions and release potential of ditch sediments from different land uses in a small catchment of the upper Yangtze River. J. Soils Sediments 12, 278–290.